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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Gross profit

Stores and distribution expense

Marketing, general and administrative expense

Asset impairment

Other operating income, net

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense, net

Income (loss) before taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income (loss) attributable to A&F

Net income (loss) per share attributable to A&F
Basic

Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic

Diluted

Dividends declared per share

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation, net of tax
Derivative financial instruments, net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to A&F

(Unaudited)
Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

$ 859,112 $ 821,734 $ 2,299,532 2,290,377
332,485 310,995 913,085 876,810

526,627 510,739 1,386,447 1,413,567

375,944 386,609 1,105,168 1,138,644

124,533 105,307 343,779 331,473

3,480 — 10,345 6,356
(70) (822) (4,555) (16,835)
22,740 19,645 (68,290) (46,071)

4,571 4,609 12,780 13,856
18,169 15,036 (81,070) (59,927)
7,553 6,762 (16,062) (17,540)
10,616 8,274 (65,008) (42,387)

541 393 2,108 2,448
$ 10,075 $ 7,881 $ (67,116) (44,835)
$ 0.15 $ 0.12 $ (0.98) (0.66)
$ 0.15 $ 0.12 $ (0.98) (0.66)
68,512 67,975 68,347 67,848

69,425 68,277 68,347 67,848

$ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.60 0.60
$ (3,496) $ (12,194) $ 21,183 870
5,518 3,937 (9,230) 557

2,022 (8,257) 11,953 1,427

12,638 17 (53,055) (40,960)

541 393 2,108 2,448

$ 12,097 $ 376) $ (55,163) (43,408)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Assets
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents
Receivables
Inventories, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders” equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Short-term portion of deferred lease credits
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of deferred lease credits
Long-term portion of borrowings, net
Leasehold financing obligations
Other liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

Stockholders’ equity

Class A Common Stock - $0.01 par value: 150,000 shares authorized and 103,300 shares issued at each of October 28, 2017

and January 28, 2017
Paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Thousands, except par value amounts)

(Unaudited)

Treasury stock, at average cost: 35,184 and 35,542 shares at October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017, respectively

Total Abercrombie & Fitch Co. stockholders’ equity

Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

October 28, 2017

January 28, 2017

459,293 547,189
78,554 93,384
570,484 399,795
68,903 98,932
1,177,234 1,139,300
767,930 824,738
352,737 331,719
2,297,901 2,295,757
248,963 187,017
292,479 273,044
19,314 20,076
6,189 5,863
566,945 486,000
74,782 76,321
263,910 262,992
48,082 46,397
174,023 172,008
560,797 557,718
1,033 1,033
389,384 396,590
2,361,055 2,474,703
(109,349) (121,302)
(1,481,363) (1,507,589)
1,160,760 1,243,435
9,399 8,604
1,170,159 1,252,039
2,297,901 2,295,757

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities

Net loss

(Thousands)
(Unaudited)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Asset impairment
Loss on disposal
Amortization of deferred lease credits
Benefit from deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities
Inventories, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Lessor construction allowances
Income taxes
Long-term lease deposits
Other assets
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Net cash used for investing activities

Financing activities

Dividends paid

Other financing activities
Net cash used for financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash
Net decrease in cash and equivalents
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and equivalents, end of period
Significant non-cash investing activities

Change in accrual for construction in progress
Supplemental information

Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017

October 29, 2016

(65,008) $ (42,387)
146,147 146,666
10,345 6,356
5,624 1,914
(16,510) (18,601)
(15,597) (26,103)
15,774 16,691
(167,546) (91,375)
73,214 9,533
12,954 4,976
93 (6,463)
(421) 23,653
40,706 (4,544)
(10,036) 1,776
29,739 22,092
(86,300) (96,814)
203 4,098
(86,097) (92,716)
(40,776) (40,526)
(2,423) (4,840)
(43,199) (45,366)
11,661 (2,868)
(87,896) (118,858)
547,189 588,578
459,293 469,720
(10,445)  $ (12,453)
9849 § 11,538
(14,921)  $ 20,516

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Nature of Business

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (“A&F”), through its subsidiaries (collectively, A&F and its subsidiaries are referred to as “Abercrombie & Fitch” or the
“Company”), is a specialty retailer of branded apparel and accessories. The Company operates through store and direct-to-consumer operations, as well as
through various wholesale, franchise and licensing arrangements. The Company has operations in North America, Europe, Asia and the Middle East.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include historical financial statements of, and transactions applicable to, the Company and
reflect its assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company has interests in a United Arab Emirates business venture and in a Kuwait business venture with Majid al Futtaim Fashion L.L.C. (“MAF”),
each of which meets the definition of a variable interest entity (“VIE”). The Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of these VIEs; therefore, the
Company has consolidated the assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows of these VIEs.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. All references herein to “Fiscal 2017” and “Fiscal 2016” represent the fifty-three week
fiscal year ending on February 3, 2018 and the fifty-two week fiscal year ended on January 28, 2017, respectively.

Interim Financial Statements

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of October 28, 2017, and for the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended October 28, 2017 and
October 29, 2016, are unaudited and are presented pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
Accordingly, these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto
contained in A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016 filed with the SEC on March 27, 2017. The January 28, 2017 consolidated balance sheet
data, included herein, were derived from audited consolidated financial statements, but do not include all disclosures required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

In the opinion of management, the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments (which are of a normal recurring

nature) necessary to state fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods, but are not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be anticipated for Fiscal 2017.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following table provides a brief description of recent accounting pronouncements that could affect the Company’s financial statements:

Accounting Standards Update (ASU)

Description

Date of

Adoption

Effect on the Financial Statements or Other Significant
Matters

Standards adopted

ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the
Measurement of Inventory

ASU 2016-09, Compensation—Stock
Compensation

Standards not yet adopted

ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

ASU 2016-02, Leases

ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging

* Early adoption is permitted.

This update amends ASC 330, Inventory. The new guidance
applies to inventory measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or
average cost. Under this amendment, inventory is to be
measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, which is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and
transportation.

This update amends ASC 718, Compensation. Under the new
guidance, tax benefits and certain tax deficiencies arising from
the vesting of share-based payments are to be recognized as
income tax benefits or expenses in the statement of operations;
whereas, under the previous guidance, such benefits and
deficiencies were recorded in additional paid in-capital. The
cash flow effects of the tax benefit are to be reported in cash
flows from operating activities; whereas, they were previously
reported in cash flows from financing activities. This guidance
also allows for entities to make a policy election to estimate
forfeitures or account for them when they occur.

This update supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in
ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. The new guidance requires
entities to recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration which the entity expects to be entitled
to in exchange for those goods or services.

This update supersedes the leasing requirements in ASC 840,
Leases. The new guidance requires an entity to recognize lease
assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclose key
leasing information that depicts the lease rights and obligations
of an entity.

This update amends ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The
new guidance simplifies certain aspects of hedge accounting for
both financial and commodity risks to more accurately present
the economic effects of an entity’s risk management activities in
its financial statements. Under the new standard, more hedging
strategies will be eligible for hedge accounting, including
hedges of the benchmark rate component of the contractual
coupon cash flows of fixed-rate assets or liabilities and partial-
term hedges of fixed-rate assets or liabilities. For cash flow and
net investment hedges, the guidance requires a modified
retrospective approach while the amended presentation and
disclosure guidance requires a prospective approach.

January 29,
2017

January 29,
2017

February 4,
2018

February 3,
2019*

February 3,
2019*

The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

As required by the update, all excess tax benefits and tax
deficiencies recognized on share-based compensation expense are
reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of operations
as a component of the provision for income taxes on a prospective
basis. This update resulted in additional non-cash income tax
expense of $0.2 million and $10.1 million for the thirteen and
thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017, respectively. In
addition, excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies recognized on
share-based compensation expense are now classified as an
operating activity on the condensed consolidated statements of
cash flows. The Company has applied this provision on a
retrospective basis. For the thirty-nine weeks ended October 29,
2016, net cash provided by operating activities increased by $0.7
million with a corresponding offset to net cash used for financing
activities. The Company has elected to maintain its practice of
estimating forfeitures when recognizing expense for share-based
payment awards rather than accounting for forfeitures when they
occur. Based on share-based compensation awards currently
outstanding and the price of the Company's Common Stock as of
October 28, 2017, the adoption of this guidance would result in
non-cash income tax expense of approximately $11 million for
Fiscal 2017, $19 million for Fiscal 2018 and $3 million for Fiscal
2019.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements. Based
on its preliminary assessment, the Company has determined this
guidance will impact the classification and timing of the
recognition of gift card breakage. The Company does not expect
this guidance to have a material impact on store, direct-to-
consumer, wholesale, franchise, or license revenues.

The Company expects that this guidance will result in a material
increase in the Company’s long-term assets and long-term
liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets, and is
currently evaluating additional impacts that this guidance may
have on its consolidated financial statements. The Company will
not be early adopting this guidance.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements. The
Company will not be early adopting this guidance.
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2. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
Net income (loss) per basic and diluted share is computed based on the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common stock.

The following table presents weighted-average shares outstanding and anti-dilutive shares:

Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

Shares of common stock issued 103,300 103,300 103,300 103,300
Weighted-average treasury shares (34,788) (35,325) (34,953) (35,452)
Weighted-average — basic shares 68,512 67,975 68,347 67,848
Dilutive effect of share-based compensation awards 913 302 — —
Weighted-average — diluted shares 69,425 68,277 68,347 67,848
Anti-dilutive shares ® 5,181 6,126 5,367 6,209

M Reflects the total number of shares related to outstanding share-based compensation awards that have been excluded from the computation of net income (loss) per diluted share because the
impact would have been anti-dilutive.

3. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The inputs used to measure fair value are prioritized based on a three-level hierarchy. The three levels of inputs to measure fair value are
as follows:

*  Level 1—inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities that are available in active markets that the Company can access at the
measurement date.

*  Level 2—inputs are other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities, directly or indirectly.

*  Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable.

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy. The three levels of the hierarchy and the
distribution within these levels of the Company’s assets and liabilities, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, were as follows:

Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of October 28, 2017

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Trust-owned life insurance policies (at cash surrender value) —  $ 101,962 $ $ 101,962
Money market funds 25,071 — 25,071
Derivative financial instruments — 1,256 1,256
Total assets 25,071 $ 103,218 $ $ 128,289
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments — $ 3,553 $ $ 3,553
Total liabilities —  $ 3,553 $ 3,553
Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of January 28, 2017
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Trust-owned life insurance policies (at cash surrender value) = $ 99,654 $ $ 99,654
Money market funds 94,026 — 94,026
Derivative financial instruments — 6,042 6,042
Total assets 94,026 $ 105,696 $ $ 199,722
Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments —  § 492 $ 492
Total liabilities — 492 $ 492
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The Level 2 assets and liabilities consist of trust-owned life insurance policies and derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign currency exchange
forward contracts. The fair value of foreign currency exchange forward contracts is determined by using quoted market prices of the same or similar
instruments, adjusted for counterparty risk.

Fair value of borrowings:
The Company’s borrowings under the Company’s credit facilities are carried at historical cost in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
For disclosure purposes, the Company estimated the fair value of borrowings outstanding based on market rates for similar types of debt, which are

considered to be Level 2 inputs.

The carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s borrowings under the term loan facility were as follows:

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 January 28, 2017
Gross borrowings outstanding, carrying amount $ 268,250 $ 268,250
Gross borrowings outstanding, fair value $ 266,909 $ 260,551

No borrowings were outstanding under the Company’s senior secured revolving credit facility as of October 28, 2017 or January 28, 2017.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consisted of:

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 January 28, 2017

Property and equipment, at cost $ 2,810,471 $ 2,772,139
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,042,541) (1,947,401)
Property and equipment, net $ 767,930 $ 824,738

Long-lived assets, primarily comprised of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, are tested for recoverability whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the long-lived assets might not be recoverable. These include, but are not limited to, material
declines in operational performance, a history of losses, an expectation of future losses, adverse market conditions and store closure or relocation decisions.
On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews for indicators of impairment at the individual store level, the lowest level for which cash flows are
identifiable.

Stores that display an indicator of impairment are subjected to an impairment assessment. The Company’s impairment assessment requires management to
make assumptions and judgments related, but not limited, to management’s expectations for future operations and projected cash flows. The key assumptions
used in the Company’s undiscounted future cash flow models include sales, gross profit and, to a lesser extent, operating expenses.

An impairment loss may be recognized when these undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset group. In the circumstance of
impairment, any loss would be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the asset group over its fair value. The key assumptions used in estimating
the fair value of impaired assets may include projected cash flows and discount rate.

The Company incurred store asset impairment charges of $3.5 million and $10.3 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017,
respectively, and $6.4 million for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 29, 2016. There were no asset impairment charges for the thirteen weeks ended
October 29, 2016.

The Company had $36.6 million and $35.6 million of construction project assets in property and equipment, net at October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017,
respectively, related to the construction of buildings in certain lease arrangements where the Company is deemed to be the owner of the construction project.
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5. INCOME TAXES

The Company’s quarterly tax provision and the estimate of the annual effective tax rate are subject to significant variation due to several factors. These
include variability in the pre-tax jurisdictional mix of earnings, changes in how the Company does business including entering into new businesses or
geographies, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in law, regulations, and administrative practices, relative changes of expenses or losses for
which tax benefits are not recognized and the impact of discrete items. The impact of these items on the effective tax rate will be greater at lower levels of
pre-tax income (loss).

In Fiscal 2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” which resulted in discrete non-cash income tax charges
recognized in income tax expense (benefit) on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) of $0.2 million and
$10.1 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods ended October 28, 2017, respectively. Refer to Note 1, “BASIS OF PRESENTATION--Recent
Accounting_Pronouncements” for further discussion regarding the adoption of this standard.

6. BORROWINGS

Asset-Based Revolving Credit Facility

On August 7, 2014, A&F, through its subsidiary Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. (“A&F Management”) as the lead borrower (with A&F and certain
other subsidiaries as borrowers or guarantors), entered into an asset-based revolving credit agreement.

As of October 19, 2017, the Company, through A&F Management, entered into the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement (the “ABL Second
Amendment”), amending and extending the maturity date of the asset-based revolving credit agreement. As amended, the asset-based revolving credit
agreement continues to provide for a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $400 million (the “Amended ABL Facility”). The Amended ABL
Facility is subject to a borrowing base, consisting primarily of U.S. inventory, with a letter of credit sub-limit of $50 million (reduced from $100 million by
the ABL Second Amendment) and an accordion feature allowing A&F to increase the revolving commitment by up to $100 million subject to specified
conditions. The Amended ABL Facility is available for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. The Amended ABL
Facility will mature on October 19, 2022.

Obligations under the Amended ABL Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by A&F and certain of its subsidiaries. The Amended ABL Facility is secured
by a first-priority security interest in certain working capital of the borrowers and guarantors consisting of inventory, accounts receivable and certain other
assets. The Amended ABL Facility is also secured by a second-priority security interest in certain property and assets of the borrowers and guarantors,
including certain fixed assets, intellectual property, stock of subsidiaries and certain after-acquired material real property.

At the Company’s option, borrowings under the Amended ABL Facility will bear interest at either (a) an adjusted LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.25% to
1.50% per annum, or (b) an alternate base rate plus a margin of 0.25% to 0.50% per annum. The applicable margins with respect to LIBOR loans and base
rate loans, including swing line loans, under the Amended ABL Facility are 1.25% and 0.25% per annum, respectively, and are subject to adjustment each
fiscal quarter based on average historical availability during the preceding quarter. The Company is also required to pay a fee of 0.25% per annum on
undrawn commitments under the Amended ABL Facility. Customary agency fees and letter of credit fees are also payable in respect of the Amended ABL
Facility.

No borrowings were outstanding under the Amended ABL Facility as of October 28, 2017.

Term Loan Facility

A&F, through its subsidiary A&F Management as the borrower (with A&F and certain other subsidiaries as guarantors), also entered into a term loan
agreement on August 7, 2014, which provides for a term loan facility of $300 million (the “Term Loan Facility” and, together with the Amended ABL
Facility, the “Credit Facilities”).

The Term Loan Facility has not changed materially from that disclosed in Note 11, “BORROWINGS,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

contained in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016.
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Representations, Warranties and Covenants

The Credit Facilities contain various representations, warranties and restrictive covenants that, among other things and subject to specified exceptions, restrict
the ability of A&F and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness (including guarantees), grant liens, make investments, pay dividends or distributions with respect
to capital stock, make prepayments on other indebtedness, engage in mergers, dispose of certain assets or change the nature of their business. In addition,
availability equal to the greater of 10% of the loan cap or $30 million must be maintained under the Amended ABL Facility. The Credit Facilities do not
otherwise contain financial maintenance covenants.

The Company was in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Facilities as of October 28, 2017.

7. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $5.4 million and $15.8 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017,
respectively, and $5.7 million and $16.7 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 29, 2016, respectively. The Company recognized tax
benefits associated with share-based compensation expense of $2.0 million and $6.0 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017,
respectively, and $2.2 million and $6.3 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 29, 2016, respectively.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017:

Number of Weighted-Average
Underlying Weighted-Average Aggregate Remaining
Shares Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Life
Outstanding at January 28, 2017 189,800 $ 76.62
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited or expired (88,600) 74.74
Outstanding at October 28, 2017 101,200 $ 7826 % — 0.3
Stock options exercisable at October 28, 2017 101,200 $ 7826  $ — 0.3

Stock Appreciation Rights

The following table summarizes stock appreciation rights activity for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017:

Number of Weighted-Average
Underlying Weighted-Average Aggregate Remaining
Shares Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Life
Outstanding at January 28, 2017 4,079,050 $ 47.49
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited or expired (982,928) 42.85
Outstanding at October 28, 2017 3,096,122 $ 49.09 $ — 2.2
Stock appreciation rights exercisable at October 28, 2017 2,846,623 $ 51.14 $ — 1.7
Stock appreciation rights expected to become exercisable in the future as of
October 28, 2017 225,010 $ 25.87 $ — 7.2

As of October 28, 2017, there was $1.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to stock appreciation rights. The
unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 8 months.

The grant date fair value of stock appreciation rights that vested during the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 was $2.2 million
and $4.1 million, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes activity for restricted stock units for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017:

Service-based Restricted Performance-based Restricted Market-based Restricted
Stock Units Stock Units Stock Units
Number of Weighted- Number of Weighted- Number of Weighted-
Underlying Average Grant Underlying Average Grant Underlying Average Grant
Shares® Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 28, 2017 1,915,461 $ 25.47 203,923 $ 22.53 184,892 $ 26.89
Granted 1,673,528 9.89 524,030 9.11 236,872 11.79
Adjustments for performance achievement — — — — — —
Vested (676,345) 25.92 — — — —
Forfeited (293,668) 23.00 (37,779) 21.75 (37,784) 26.14
Unvested at October 28, 2017 2,618,976 $ 15.61 690,174 $ 11.82 383,980 $ 16.50

@ Includes 730,736 unvested restricted stock units as of October 28, 2017 which are subject to the vesting requirement that the Company must achieve at least $1.00 of GAAP net income
attributable to A&F for the fiscal year immediately preceding the vesting date. Holders of these restricted stock units have the opportunity to earn back one or more installments of the award if
the cumulative performance requirements are met in a subsequent year.

Fair value of both service-based and performance-based restricted stock units is calculated using the market price of the underlying common stock on the date
of grant reduced for anticipated dividend payments on unvested shares. In determining fair value, the Company does not take into account performance-based
vesting requirements. Performance-based vesting requirements are taken into account in determining the number of awards expected to vest. For market-
based restricted stock units, fair value is calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation with the number of shares that ultimately vest dependent on the
Company’s total stockholder return measured against the total stockholder return of a select group of peer companies over a three-year period. For an award
with performance-based or market-based vesting requirements, the number of shares that ultimately vest can vary from 0% to 200% of target depending on
the level of achievement of performance criteria. Unvested shares related to restricted stock units with performance-based vesting conditions are reflected at
100% of their target vesting amount in the table above.

Service-based restricted stock units are expensed on a straight-line basis over the total requisite service period, net of forfeitures. Performance-based restricted
stock units subject to graded vesting are expensed on an accelerated attribution basis, net of forfeitures. Market-based restricted stock units without graded
vesting features are expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, net of forfeitures.

As of October 28, 2017, there was $30.1 million, $4.0 million and $3.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related
to service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units, respectively. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 15 months, 15 months and 13 months for service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units,
respectively.

The actual tax benefit realized for tax deductions associated with restricted stock units vesting was $0.2 million and $2.7 million for the thirteen and thirty-

nine weeks ended October 28, 2017, respectively, and $0.2 million and $6.6 million for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 29, 2016,
respectively.
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Additional information pertaining to restricted stock units for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 follows:

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

Service-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $ 16,551  $ 28,310

Total grant date fair value of awards vested 17,531 18,337

Performance-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $ 4,774  $ 3,334

Total grant date fair value of awards vested — 1,178

Market-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $ 2,793 $ 4,023

Total grant date fair value of awards vested — —

The weighted-average assumptions used for market-based restricted stock units in the Monte Carlo simulation during the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28,
2017 and October 29, 2016 were as follows:

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Grant date market price $ 11.43 $ 28.06
Fair value $ 11.79 $ 31.01
Assumptions:
Price volatility 47% 45%
Expected term (years) 2.9 2.7
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 1.0%
Dividend yield 7.0% 3.0%
Average volatility of peer companies 35.2% 34.5%
Average correlation coefficient of peer companies 0.2664 0.3415

8. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company is exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and uses derivative instruments, primarily forward contracts, to
manage the financial impacts of these exposures. The Company does not use forward contracts to engage in currency speculation and does not enter into
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

The Company uses derivative instruments, primarily foreign currency exchange forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the foreign
currency exchange rate exposure associated with forecasted foreign-currency-denominated intercompany inventory sales to foreign subsidiaries and the
related settlement of the foreign-currency-denominated intercompany receivables. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates will either increase or
decrease the Company’s intercompany equivalent cash flows and affect the Company’s U.S. Dollar earnings. Gains or losses on the foreign currency
exchange forward contracts that are used to hedge these exposures are expected to partially offset this variability. Foreign currency exchange forward
contracts represent agreements to exchange the currency of one country for the currency of another country at an agreed upon settlement date. These foreign
currency exchange forward contracts typically have a maximum term of twelve months. The sale of the inventory to the Company’s customers will result in
the reclassification of related derivative gains and losses that are reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss (“AOCL”). Substantially all of the
unrealized gains or losses related to designated cash flow hedges as of October 28, 2017 will be recognized in cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization, over the next twelve months.

The Company presents its derivative assets and derivative liabilities at their gross fair values on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, the
Company's derivative contracts allow net settlements under certain conditions.
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As of October 28, 2017, the Company had outstanding the following foreign currency exchange forward contracts that were entered into to hedge either a
portion, or all, of forecasted foreign-currency-denominated intercompany inventory sales, the resulting settlement of the foreign-currency-denominated
intercompany accounts receivable, or both:

(in thousands) Notional Amount™®

Euro $ 105,638
British pound $ 45,689
Canadian dollar $ 22,851
Japanese yen $ 8,476

M Amounts reported are the U.S. Dollar notional amounts outstanding as of October 28, 2017.

The Company also uses foreign currency exchange forward contracts to hedge certain foreign-currency-denominated net monetary assets/liabilities.
Examples of monetary assets/liabilities include cash balances, receivables and payables. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates result in transaction
gains/(losses) being recorded in earnings, as U.S. GAAP requires that monetary assets/liabilities be remeasured at the spot exchange rate at quarter-end or
upon settlement. The Company has chosen not to apply hedge accounting to these instruments because there are no differences in the timing of gain or loss
recognition on the hedging instruments and the hedged items.

As of October 28, 2017, the Company had outstanding the following foreign currency exchange forward contracts that were entered into to hedge foreign-
currency-denominated net monetary assets/liabilities:

(in thousands) Notional Amount®
Euro $ 23,424
British pound $ 1,313

@ Amounts reported are the U.S. Dollar notional amounts outstanding as of October 28, 2017.

The location and amounts of derivative fair values on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017 were as
follows:

October 28, January 28, October 28, January 28,
(in thousands) Location 2017 2017 Location 2017 2017
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange forward contracts Other current assets $ 894 $ 5920  Accrued expenses $ 3,553 $ 486
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange forward contracts Other current assets $ 362 $ 122 Accrued expenses $ — 6
Total Other current assets $ 1,256  $ 6,042 Accrued expenses $ 3553 $ 492

Refer to Note 3, “FAIR VALUE,” for further discussion of the determination of the fair value of derivative instruments.
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The location and amounts of derivative gains and losses for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 on the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) were as follows:

(in thousands)

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Location Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss)
Other operating income,
net $ 634 $ 152§ 83 § 295

Foreign currency exchange forward contracts

Effective Portion

Ineffective Portion and Amount Excluded from
Effectiveness Testing

Location of Gain

Location of Gain
Recognized in

Amount of Gain (Loss) (Loss) Reclassified Earnings Amount of Gain
Recognized in AOCL on from AOCL into Amount of Gain (Loss) Reclassified on Derivative Recognized in Earnings on
Derivative Contracts ) Earnings from AOCL into Earnings ? Contracts Derivative Contracts
Thirteen Weeks Ended
(in thousands) October 28,2017  October 29, 2016 October 28,2017  October 29, 2016 October 28,2017 October 29, 2016
Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Foreign currency Cost of sales,
exchange exclusive of
forward depreciation and Other operating
contracts $ 1,775 $ 4,986 amortization $ (3,544) $ 450 income, net $ 975 $ 695

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:

Foreign currency
exchange
forward

contracts $ (10,627)  $ 3,026

October 28,2017 October 29, 2016

Cost of sales,
exclusive of
depreciation and

amortization 536 $ 2,551

M The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in spot rates.
@ The amount represents the reclassification from AOCL into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings, which is when merchandise is sold to the Company’s customers.
3  The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in the difference between the spot price and forward price that is excluded from the assessment of hedge

effectiveness and, therefore, recognized in earnings.
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9. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 was as follows:

(in thousands)

Beginning balance at July 29, 2017
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss
Tax effect

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Ending balance at October 28, 2017

(in thousands)

Beginning balance at January 28, 2017
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss )
Tax effect

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Ending balance at October 28, 2017

Thirteen Weeks Ended October 28, 2017

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on

Foreign Currency Derivative Financial
Translation Adjustment Instruments Total
(101,448) % (9,923) $ (111,371)
(2,451) 1,775 (676)
— 3,544 3,544
(1,045) 199 (846)
(3,496) 5,518 2,022
(104,944)  $ (4,405) $ (109,349)
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 28, 2017
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on
Foreign Currency Derivative Financial
Translation Adjustment Instruments Total
(126,127)  $ 4825 $ (121,302)
22,228 (10,627) 11,601
— (536) (536)
(1,045) 1,933 888
21,183 (9,230) 11,953
(104,944) $ (4,405) $ (109,349)

M Amount represents gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of

Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 29, 2016 was as follows:

(in thousands)

Beginning balance at July 30, 2016
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss @
Tax effect

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Ending balance at October 29, 2016

(in thousands)

Beginning balance at January 30, 2016
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss @
Tax effect

Other comprehensive income

Ending balance at October 29, 2016

Thirteen Weeks Ended October 29, 2016

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on

Foreign Currency Derivative Financial
Translation Adjustment Instruments Total
(106,132) $ 1,197 $ (104,935)
(12,194) 4,986 (7,208)
— (450) (450)
— (599) (599)
(12,194) 3,937 (8,257)
(118,326)  $ 5134 $ (113,192)
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 29, 2016
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on
Foreign Currency Derivative Financial
Translation Adjustment Instruments Total
(119,196) $ 4577  $ (114,619)
870 3,026 3,896
_ (2,551) (2,551)
— 82 82
870 557 1,427
(118,326)  $ 5134 $ (113,192)

@ Amount represents gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of

Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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10. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has two operating segments: (a) Hollister, and (b) Abercrombie, which includes the Company’s Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids
brands. These operating segments have similar economic characteristics, classes of consumers, products, and production and distribution methods, and have
been aggregated into one reportable segment.

The following table provides the Company’s net sales by operating segment for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29,
2016.

Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
(in thousands) October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Hollister $ 508,086 $ 463,479 $ 1,329,401  $ 1,245,710
Abercrombie 351,026 358,255 970,131 1,044,667
Total $ 859,112 $ 821,734  $ 2,299,532  $ 2,290,377

The following table provides the Company’s net sales by geographic area for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29,
2016.

Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
(in thousands) October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Uoitedibtates $ 554673  $ 531,449 $ 1434019 $ 1,435,633
Europe 192,698 187,184 543,578 541,711
G 111,741 103,101 321,935 313,033
Total $ 859,112  § 821,734  $ 2299532 2,290,377

11. CONTINGENCIES

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other adversary proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Legal costs incurred in connection with
the resolution of claims and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and the Company establishes estimated liabilities for the outcome of litigation where
losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable. The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of
additional facts. As of October 28, 2017, the Company had accrued charges of approximately $15.9 million for certain legal contingencies, which are
classified within other current liabilities on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. Actual liabilities may differ from the amounts
recorded, and there can be no assurance that final resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. There are certain claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company for which accruals have not been established.

The Company is a defendant in two separate class action lawsuits filed by former associates of the Company who are represented by the same counsel. The
first lawsuit, filed on September 16, 2013, alleges failure to indemnify business expenses and a series of derivative claims for compelled patronization,
inaccurate wage statements, waiting time penalties, minimum wage violations and unfair competition under California state law on behalf of all non-exempt
hourly associates at Abercrombie & Fitch, Abercrombie kids, Hollister, and Gilly Hicks stores in California. Four subclasses of associates have since been
certified, and the matter is now before the United States (“U.S.”) District Court for the Central District of California. The second lawsuit, filed on December
15, 2015, alleges that associates were required to purchase uniforms without reimbursement in violation of federal law, and laws of the states of New York,
Florida and Massachusetts, as well as derivative putative state law claims and seeks to pursue such claims on a class and collective basis. This matter is now
before the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio and is stayed pending mediation. Both matters have been mediated, and the parties have
reached a framework for settling both cases on a class-wide basis through a proposed $25.0 million claims-made settlement agreement. The parties continue
to negotiate the details of the proposed settlement, and the ultimate settlement amount is dependent upon the actual claims made by members of the classes
and is also subject to the approval of a court of competent jurisdiction.

The Company incurred a pre-tax charge of $11.1 million within marketing, general and administrative expense on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) during the thirteen weeks ended October 28, 2017 and has a total estimated liability of $13.1 million as of
October 28, 2017 related to the proposed settlement. The estimated liability represents what the Company believes to be a reasonable estimate of the loss
exposure related to these matters and is included in the accrued charges disclosed above. The ultimate outcome of these matters may differ from the
Company’s estimated loss exposure, due to uncertainties regarding final settlement agreement negotiations, actual claims rate experience, and court
approvals. The

Company may be subject to an incremental loss of as much as $11.9 million, and there can be no absolute assurance that a settlement will be finalized and
approved or of the ultimate outcome of the litigation.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW
BUSINESS SUMMARY

The Company is a specialty retailer who primarily sells its products through store and direct-to-consumer operations, as well as through various wholesale,
franchise and licensing arrangements. The Company offers a broad array of apparel products, including knit tops, woven shirts, graphic t-shirts, fleece,
sweaters, jeans, woven pants, shorts, outerwear, dresses, intimates and swimwear; and personal care products and accessories for men, women and kids under
the Hollister, Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands. The Company has operations in North America, Europe, Asia and the Middle East.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal years are designated in the consolidated financial statements and notes by the
calendar year in which the fiscal year commences. All references herein to “Fiscal 2017” represent the fifty-three week fiscal year that will end on February 3,
2018, and to “Fiscal 2016” represent the fifty-two week fiscal year that ended January 28, 2017.

Due to the seasonal nature of the retail apparel industry, the results of operations for any current period are not necessarily indicative of the results expected
for the full fiscal year. The seasonality of the Company’s operations may also lead to significant fluctuations in certain asset and liability accounts.

SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The table below summarizes the Company's results of operations and reconciles GAAP financial measures to non-GAAP financial measures for the thirteen

and thirty-nine week periods ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016. Additional discussion about why the Company believes that these non-GAAP
financial measures are useful to investors is provided below under “NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES.”

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands, except change in comparable sales, gross profit
rate and per share amounts) GAAP Excluded Items® Non-GAAP GAAP Excluded Items® Non-GAAP
Thirteen Weeks Ended
Net sales $ 859,112 $ = $ 859,112 $ 821,734 $ = $ 821,734
Change in comparable sales® 4% (6)%
Gross profit rate 61.3% —% 61.3% 62.2% —% 62.2 %
Operating income $ 22,740 $ (14,550) $ 37,290 $ 19,645 $ 6,000 $ 13,645
Net income attributable to A&F $ 10,075 $ (10,433) $ 20,508 $ 7,881 $ 6,479 $ 1,402
Net income per diluted share attributable to A&F $ 0.15 $ 0.15 $ 0.30 $ 0.12 $ 0.09 $ 0.02
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
Net sales $ 2,299,532 $ — $ 2,299,532 $ 2,290,377 $ — $ 2,290,377
Change in comparable sales® 0% (5)%
Gross profit rate 60.3% —% 60.3% 61.7% —% 61.7 %
Operating loss $ (68,290) (20,685)  $ (47,605) $ (46,071)  $ 11,926 $ (57,997)
Net loss attributable to A&F $ (67,116)  $ (14,958) $ (52,158) $ (44,835) $ 10,158  $ (54,993)
Net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F $ 098) $ 0.22) $ 0.76) $ 0.66) $ 0.15 $ (0.81)

@ Refer to “RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” for details on excluded items.

@ Changes in comparable sales are calculated on a constant currency basis by converting prior year store and online sales at current year exchange rates. For inclusion in this calculation, a store
must have been open as the same brand at least one year and its square footage must not have been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past year. Excludes revenue other than
store and online sales.

As of October 28, 2017, the Company had $459.3 million in cash and equivalents, and $268.3 million in gross borrowings outstanding under its term loan
facility. Net cash provided by operating activities was $29.7 million for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017. The Company used cash of $86.3
million for capital expenditures and $40.8 million to pay dividends during the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017.
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CURRENT TRENDS AND OUTLOOK

Our results for the third quarter of Fiscal 2017 reflect progress across all brands, as we continue to execute against our strategic plan. We delivered our fourth
consecutive quarter of sequential comparable sales improvement, resulting in overall net sales up 5% compared to last year and a return to positive overall
comparable sales for the quarter. We maintained strategic investment in omnichannel and marketing, while managing our expenses effectively, resulting in
operating expense leverage and profit growth. Hollister continued to leverage high levels of customer engagement to drive another strong quarter, with 10%
net sales growth. Abercrombie showed further improvement and early signs of stabilization.

We are focused on the continued execution of our strategic plan, and expect the environment in the fourth quarter to remain challenging and promotional. We
maintain our focus on strategic investments in marketing and omnichannel to meet our customers' needs whenever, wherever and however they choose to
engage with our brands.

For the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2017, we expect:

»  Comparable sales to be up low-single digits, and net sales to be up mid- to high-single digits, including benefits from the 53rd week and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates.

*  The 53rd week to benefit net sales by approximately $38 million and operating income by approximately $2 million.

+  Changes in foreign currency exchange rates to benefit net sales and operating income, net of hedging.

* A gross profit rate down approximately 100 basis points to last year's rate of 59.3%, in line with the third quarter year-over-year decline.

»  Operating expense, including other operating income, to be down approximately 1% from $553.7 million last year, with expense reductions partially
offset by increases in volume-related expenses from higher sales and the adverse effect from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

»  The effective tax rate to be in the mid 30s.

* A weighted average diluted share count of approximately 70 million shares, excluding the effect of potential share buybacks.

On a full year basis, we expect the effective tax rate to reflect a core tax rate in the mid 30s, which is highly sensitive at lower levels of pre-tax earnings.
Additionally, we expect the full year effective tax rate to reflect discrete non-cash income tax charges of approximately $11 million related to a change in
share-based compensation accounting standards.

We now expect capital expenditures to be approximately $110 million for the full year, up from our prior expectation of $100 million.

In addition to the five stores opened year to date, including two outlet stores, we expect to open four new full-price stores in the fourth quarter. We also
anticipate closing up to 60 stores in the U.S. by the end of Fiscal 2017 through natural lease expirations, including the 14 stores closed year to date.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes discussion of certain financial measures under “RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” on both a GAAP and a non-
GAAP basis. The Company believes that each of the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this “ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” are useful to investors as they provide a measure of the Company’s
operating performance excluding the effect of certain items which the Company believes do not reflect its future operating outlook, and therefore supplements
investors’ understanding of comparability across periods. Management used these non-GAAP financial measures during the periods presented to assess the
Company’s performance and to develop expectations for future operating performance. These non-GAAP financial measures should be used supplemental to,
not as an alternative to, the Company’s GAAP financial results, and may not be the same as similar measures presented by other companies.

Changes in comparable sales are calculated on a constant currency basis by converting prior year store and online sales at current year exchange rates. For the
purpose of this calculation, a store must have been open as the same brand at least one year and its square footage must not have been expanded or reduced by
more than 20% within the past year. Excludes revenue other than store and online sales.

In addition, the following financial measures are disclosed on a GAAP basis and, as applicable, on a non-GAAP basis excluding items relating to legal
charges, asset impairment, indemnification recovery, and claims settlement benefits: marketing, general and administrative expense; other operating income,

net; operating income (loss); income tax expense (benefit); effective tax rate; net
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income (loss) attributable to A&F; and net income (loss) per diluted share attributable to A&F. Certain of these GAAP and non-GAAP measures are also
expressed as a percentage of net sales. The income tax effect of non-GAAP items is calculated as the difference in income tax benefit with and without the
non-GAAP adjustments to income before income taxes based upon the tax laws and statutory income tax rates of the applicable tax jurisdictions.

STORE ACTIVITY

Store count and gross square footage by brand for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016, respectively, were as follows:

January 28, 2017
New

Closed

October 28, 2017

Gross square feet (in thousands):

October 28, 2017

January 30, 2016
New

Closed

October 29, 2016

Gross square feet (in thousands):

October 29, 2016

Hollister ® Abercrombie @ Total
United States International United States International United States International
398 145 311 44 709 189
1 — 3 1 4 1
3 — (10) €] (13 )
396 145 304 44 700 189
2,694 1,216 2,355 615 5,049 1,831
Hollister ® Abercrombie @ Total
United States International United States International United States International
414 139 340 39 754 178
3 5 3 2 6 7
(©)] — (10) — (15) _
412 144 333 41 745 185
2,828 1,212 2,548 631 5,376 1,843

M Excludes five international franchise stores as of October 28, 2017, three international franchise stores as of January 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016, and two international franchise stores as of

January 30, 2016.

@ Includes Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands. Excludes four international franchise stores as of October 28, 2017 and one international franchise store as of January 28, 2017,

October 29, 2016 and January 30, 2016.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THIRTEEN AND THIRTY-NINE WEEKS ENDED OCTOBER 28, 2017 VERSUS OCTOBER 29, 2016

Net Sales

(in thousands)
Hollister
Abercrombie®

Total net sales

United States
International

Total net sales

(in thousands)
Hollister
Abercrombie®

Total net sales

United States
International

Total net sales

Change in Comparable Sales®
Hollister
Abercrombie

Total company

United States
International

Total company

@ Includes Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands.
@ Changes in comparable sales are calculated on a constant currency basis by converting prior year store and online sales at current year exchange rates. For inclusion in this calculation, a store
must have been open as the same brand at least one year and its square footage must not have been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past year. Excludes revenue other than

store and online sales.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, net sales increased 5% as compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2016, primarily attributable to a 4% increase in
comparable sales, with a 8% increase in comparable sales for Hollister, partially offset by a 2% decrease in comparable sales for Abercrombie. Changes in

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Net Sales Net Sales $ Change % Change
$ 508,086 $ 463,479 $ 44,607 10%
351,026 358,255 (7,229) )%
$ 859,112 $ 821,734  § 37,378 5%
$ 554,673 $ 531,449 $ 23,224 4%
304,439 290,285 14,154 5%
$ 859,112 $ 821,734  § 37,378 5%
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
Net Sales Net Sales $ Change % Change
$ 1,329,401 $ 1,245,710  $ 83,691 7%
970,131 1,044,667 (74,536) 7)%
$ 2,299,532 $ 2,290,377  $ 9,155 0%
$ 1,434,019 $ 1,435,633 $ (1,614) 0%
865,513 854,744 10,769 1%
$ 2,299,532 $ 2,290,377  $ 9,155 0%
Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016 October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
8% 0% 6% 1)%
)% 14)% (6)% (10)%
4% (6)% 0% (5)%
6% (5)% 1% @)%
0% (10)% 1)% 7)%
4% (6)% 0% (5)%

foreign currency exchange rates benefited net sales by approximately 1%.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, net sales increased slightly as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016.
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Cost of Sales, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization $ 332,485 38.7% $ 310,995 37.8%
Gross profit $ 526,627 61.3% $ 510,739 62.2%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization $ 913,085 39.7% $ 876,810 38.3%
Gross profit $ 1,386,447 60.3% $ 1,413,567 61.7%

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 90 basis
points as compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to lower average unit cost that was more than offset by lower average unit retail, in an
environment that remained promotional, and includes the adverse effects from changes in foreign currency exchange rates of approximately 10 basis points.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately
140 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to lower average unit cost that was more than offset by lower average
unit retail, in an environment that remained promotional, and includes the adverse effects from changes in foreign currency exchange rates of approximately
20 basis points.

Stores and Distribution Expense

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Stores and distribution expense $ 375,944 43.8% $ 386,609 47.0%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Stores and distribution expense $ 1,105,168 48.1% $ 1,138,644 49.7%

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, stores and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales decreased by approximately 320 basis points as compared to
the third quarter of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to expense reduction efforts and the leveraging effect from increased net sales, partially offset by higher direct-
to-consumer expense.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, stores and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales decreased by approximately 160 basis points as
compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to expense reduction efforts, partially offset by higher direct-to-consumer expense.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, shipping and handling costs incurred to physically move product to the customer, associated with direct-to-consumer
operations, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare product for shipment, were $31.6 million as compared to $27.1 million for the third quarter of
Fiscal 2016. For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, shipping and handling costs were $92.8 million as compared to $77.3 million for the year-to-date
period of Fiscal 2016.
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Marketing, General and Administrative Expense

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Marketing, general and administrative expense $ 124,533 14.5% $ 105,307 12.8%
Deduct: legal charges® (11,070) (1.3)% — 0.0%
Deduct: indemnification recovery® — 0.0% 6,000 0.7%
Adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative expense $ 113,463 13.2% $ 111,307 13.5%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Marketing, general and administrative expense $ 343,779 14.9% $ 331,473 14.5%
Deduct: legal charges® (11,070) (0.5)% 0.0%
Deduct: indemnification recovery® — 0.0% 6,000 0.3%
Adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative expense $ 332,709 14.5% $ 337,473 14.7%

@ Includes legal charges in connection with a proposed settlement of two class action claims related to alleged wage and hour practices dating back to 2009. See Note 11, “CONTINGENCIES.”
@ TIncludes benefits related to an indemnification recovery of certain legal settlements which were recognized in the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 170 basis points as
compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to certain items presented above. In addition, increases in performance-based compensation and
marketing expenses were more than offset by expense reduction efforts and the leveraging effect from increased net sales. Excluding certain items presented
above, third quarter Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales decreased approximately 30
basis points as compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2016.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 40 basis
points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to due certain items presented above, higher performance-based compensation and
marketing expenses, partially offset by expense reduction efforts. Excluding certain items presented above, year-to-date Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP
marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales decreased approximately 20 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of
Fiscal 2016.

Asset Impairment
For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, the Company incurred store asset impairment charges of $3.5 million. There were no asset impairment charges for the

third quarter of Fiscal 2016. For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, the Company incurred store asset impairment charges of $10.3 million as compared to
$6.4 million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016.
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Other Operating Income, Net

(in thousands)

Other operating income, net

(in thousands)
Other operating income, net
Deduct: claims settlement benefits"

Adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net

Thirteen Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017

October 29, 2016

% of Net Sales

70 0.0% $

% of Net Sales

822 0.1%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017

October 29, 2016

% of Net Sales

% of Net Sales

4,555 0.2% $
— 0.0%
4,555 0.2% $

16,835 0.7%
(12,282) (0.5)%
4,553 0.2%

M TIncludes benefits related to a settlement of certain economic loss claims associated with the April 2010 Deepwater Horizon oil spill.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, other operating income, net as a percentage of net sales decreased by approximately 10 basis points as compared to the
third quarter of Fiscal 2016, primarily due to year-over-year changes in foreign currency related gains and losses.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, other operating income, net was $4.6 million as compared to $16.8 million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal

2016. Excluding $12.3 million of claims settlement benefits last year, year-to-date Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net as a
percentage of net sales was approximately flat as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016.

(in thousands)

Thirteen Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017

October 29, 2016

% of Net Sales

% of Net Sales

Operating income 22,740 2.6% $ 19,645 2.4%
Deduct: legal charges® 11,070 1.3% — 0.0%
Deduct: asset impairment 3,480 0.4% — 0.0%
Deduct: indemnification recovery® — 0.0% (6,000) (0.7)%
Adjusted non-GAAP operating income 37,290 4.3% $ 13,645 1.7%
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Operating loss (68,290) (3.0)% $ (46,071) (2.0)%
Deduct: legal charges® 11,070 0.5% — 0.0%
Deduct: asset impairment 9,615 0.4% 6,356 0.3%
Deduct: indemnification recovery® — 0.0% (6,000) (0.3)%
Deduct: claims settlement benefits® — 0.0% (12,282) (0.5)%
Adjusted non-GAAP operating loss (47,605) 2.1)% $ (57,997) (2.5)%

@ Includes legal charges in connection with a proposed settlement of two class action claims related to alleged wage and hour practices dating back to 2009. See Note 11, “CONTINGENCIES.”
@ TIncludes benefits related to an indemnification recovery of certain legal settlements which were recognized in the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.
®  Includes benefits related to a settlement of certain economic loss claims associated with the April 2010 Deepwater Horizon oil spill.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, operating income as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 20 basis points as compared to the third quarter
of Fiscal 2016, primarily driven by expense reduction efforts and the leveraging effect of operating expenses from increased net sales, partially offset by a
reduction in the gross profit rate, the net year-over-year impact of certain items presented above and higher performance-based compensation and marketing
expenses. Excluding certain items presented above, third quarter Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP operating income as a percentage of net sales increased by
approximately 260 basis points as compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2016. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates benefited operating income by
approximately $0.9 million.
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For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, operating loss as a percent of net sales increased by approximately 100 basis points as compared to the year-to-date
period of Fiscal 2016, primarily driven by a reduction in the gross profit rate, the net year-over-year impact of certain items presented above, higher
performance-based compensation and marketing expenses, partially offset by expense reduction efforts. Excluding certain items presented above, year-to-date
Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GA AP operating loss as a percentage of net sales decreased by approximately 40 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period
of Fiscal 2016.

Interest Expense, Net

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Interest expense $ 6,114 0.7% $ 5,751 0.7%
Interest income (1,543) (0.2)% (1,142) 0.1)%
Interest expense, net $ 4,571 0.5% $ 4,609 0.6%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Interest expense $ 16,781 0.7% $ 17,099 0.7%
Interest income (4,001) (0.2)% (3,243) (0.1)%
Interest expense, net $ 12,780 0.6% $ 13,856 0.6%

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017 and the third quarter of Fiscal 2016, interest expense, net was $4.6 million, which primarily consists of interest expense on
borrowings outstanding under the Company's term loan facility, partially offset by realized gains from the trust-owned life insurance policies held in the
irrevocable rabbi trust (the “Rabbi Trust”) and interest income earned on the Company's investments and cash holdings.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, interest expense, net was $12.8 million as compared to $13.9 million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016,
which primarily consists of interest expense on borrowings outstanding under the Company's term loan facility, partially offset by realized gains from the

trust-owned life insurance policies held in the Rabbi Trust and interest income earned on the Company's investments and cash holdings.
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Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Thirteen Weeks Ended
October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands, except ratios) Effective Tax Rate Effective Tax Rate
Income tax expense $ 7,553 41.6% $ 6,762 45.0%
Add back: tax effect of excluded items™® 4,117 479
Adjusted non-GAAP income tax expense $ 11,670 35.7% $ 7,241 80.1%

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended

October 28, 2017 October 29, 2016
(in thousands, except ratios) Effective Tax Rate Effective Tax Rate
Income tax benefit $ (16,062) 19.8% $ (17,540) 29.3%
Add back (deduct): tax effect of excluded items™® 5,727 (1,768)
Adjusted non-GAAP income tax benefit $ (10,335) 17.1% $ (19,308) 26.9%

M Refer to “Operating Income (Loss)” for details of excluded items. The Company computed the tax effect of excluded items as the difference between the effective tax rate calculated with and
without the non-GAAP adjustments on income (loss) before taxes and provision for income taxes.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, the effective tax rate, which is sensitive at lower levels of pre-tax earnings, was 41.6% as compared to 45.0% for the third
quarter of Fiscal 2016. The change in the effective tax rate was primarily driven by changes in level and mix of consolidated pre-tax income amongst
operating jurisdictions. Excluding certain items presented above in the table under “Operating Income (Loss),” the third quarter Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-
GAAP effective tax rate was 35.7% as compared to 80.1% for the third quarter Fiscal 2016.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, the effective tax rate was 19.8% as compared to 29.3% for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016. The change in
the effective tax rate was primarily driven by discrete non-cash income tax charges of $10.1 million related to the adoption of ASU 2016-09 in the first
quarter of Fiscal 2017, as well as changes in the level and mix of consolidated pre-tax earnings between operating and valuation allowance jurisdictions.
Excluding certain items presented above in the table under “Operating Income (Loss),” the year-to-date Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP effective tax rate
was 17.1% as compared to 26.9% for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016.

For the third quarter of Fiscal 2017, net income and net income per diluted share attributable to A&F were $10.1 million and $0.15, respectively, as compared
to net income and net income per diluted share attributable to A&F of $7.9 million and $0.12, respectively, for the third quarter of Fiscal 2016. Excluding
certain items presented above under “Operating Income (Loss)” and “Income Tax Expense (Benefit),” third quarter Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP net
income and net income per diluted share attributable to A&F were $20.5 million and $0.30, respectively, as compared to $1.4 million and $0.02 for the third
quarter of Fiscal 2016.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2017, net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $67.1 million and $0.98, respectively, as compared
to net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $44.8 million and $0.66, respectively, for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016. Excluding
certain items presented above under “Operating Income (Loss)” and “Income Tax Expense (Benefit),” year-to-date Fiscal 2017 adjusted non-GAAP net loss
and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $52.2 million and $0.76, respectively, as compared to $55.0 million and $0.81 for the year-to-date
period of Fiscal 2016.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
HISTORICAL SOURCES AND USES OF CASH

Seasonality of Cash Flows

The Company’s business has two principal selling seasons: the Spring season which includes the first and second fiscal quarters (“Spring”) and the Fall
season which includes the third and fourth fiscal quarters (“Fall”). As is typical in the apparel industry, the Company experiences its greatest sales activity
during the Fall season due to Back-to-School and Holiday sales periods. The Company relies on excess operating cash flows, which are largely generated in
the Fall season, to fund operations throughout the year and to reinvest in the business to support future growth. The Company also has a revolving credit
facility available as a source of additional funding.

Asset-Based Revolving Credit Facility

As of October 19, 2017, the Company amended and extended its senior secured revolving credit agreement, which was set to expire on August 7, 2019. As
amended, the asset-based revolving credit agreement continues to provide availability of up to $400 million (the “Amended ABL Facility”), subject to a
borrowing base, consisting primarily of U.S. inventory. The Amended ABL Facility is available for working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes. The Amended ABL Facility will mature on October 19, 2022. No borrowings were outstanding under the Amended ABL Facility as of
October 28, 2017.

At the Company’s option, borrowings under the Amended ABL Facility will bear interest, at either (a) an adjusted LIBOR rate plus a margin of 1.25% to
1.50% per annum, or (b) an alternate base rate plus a margin of 0.25% to 0.50% per annum based on average historical availability during the preceding
quarter. The Company is also required to pay a fee of 0.25% per annum on undrawn commitments under the Amended ABL Facility. Customary agency fees
and letter of credit fees are also payable pursuant to the Amended ABL Facility.

As of November 30, 2017, the borrowing base on the Amended ABL Facility was $397.0 million. As of November 30, 2017, the Company had not drawn on
the Amended ABL Facility, but had approximately $1.9 million in outstanding stand-by letters of credit under the Amended ABL Facility.

Term Loan Facility

The Company is also party to a term loan agreement, which provides for a term loan facility of $300 million (the “Term Loan Facility” and, together with the
Amended ABL Facility, the “Credit Facilities”). The Term Loan Facility was issued at a $3 million or 1.0% discount. In addition, the Company recorded
deferred financing fees associated with the issuance of the Term Loan Facility and the asset-based revolving credit agreement entered into on August 7, 2014
(and amended as of October 19, 2017 in the form of the Amended ABL Facility) of $5.8 million in aggregate, of which $3.2 million was paid to Term Loan
Facility lenders. The Company also recorded deferred financing fees associated with the issuance of the ABL Second Amendment of $0.9 million. The
Company is amortizing the debt discount and deferred financing fees over the respective contractual terms of the Credit Facilities.

The Company’s Term Loan debt is presented in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of the unamortized discount and fees. Net borrowings as of
October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017 were as follows:

(in thousands) October 28, 2017 January 28, 2017
Borrowings, gross at carrying amount $ 268,250 $ 268,250
Unamortized discount (1,470) (1,764)
Unamortized fees (2,870) (3,494)
Borrowings, net 263,910 262,992

Less: short-term portion of borrowings, net — —

Long-term portion of borrowings, net $ 263,910 262,992

The Term Loan Facility will mature on August 7, 2021 and amortizes at a rate equal to 0.25% of the original principal amount per quarter, beginning with the
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014. The Term Loan Facility is subject to (a) an annual mandatory prepayment in an amount equal to 0% to 50% of the Company’s
excess cash flows in the preceding fiscal year, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio and (b) certain other mandatory prepayments upon receipt by the
Company of proceeds of certain debt issuances, asset sales and casualty events, subject to certain exceptions specified therein, including reinvestment rights,
less any voluntary
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payments made. The Company made a repayment of $25 million in January 2017, in prepayment of its scheduled Fiscal 2017 through Fiscal 2021
amortization and a portion of the amount of principal due at maturity.

At the Company’s option, borrowings under the Term Loan Facility will bear interest at either (a) an adjusted LIBOR rate no lower than 1.00% plus a margin
of 3.75% per annum or (b) an alternate base rate plus a margin of 2.75% per annum. Customary agency fees are also payable pursuant to the Term Loan

Facility. The interest rate on borrowings under the Term Loan Facility was 4.99% as of October 28, 2017.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $29.7 million for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 compared to $22.1 million for the thirty-nine
weeks ended October 29, 2016. The year-over-year change in cash flow associated with operating activities was primarily due to higher cash receipts from
increased net sales, the timing of rent payments, refunds received from prior year tax returns and a year-over-year decrease in incentive compensation
payments. These year-over-year changes were partially offset by greater inventory purchases in Fiscal 2017 and proceeds from lease deposits returned and
$12.3 million of claims settlement benefits received in Fiscal 2016.

Investing_Activities

Cash outflows for investing activities for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 included capital expenditures of $86.3 million
and $96.8 million, respectively, primarily for store updates and new stores, as well as direct-to-consumer and omnichannel and information technology
investments.

Financing Activities

Cash outflows for the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 consisted primarily of dividend payments of $40.8 million and $40.5
million, respectively.

As of October 28, 2017, A&F had the ability to repurchase up to 6.5 million shares as part of the A&F Board of Directors’ previously approved authorization.
FUTURE CASH REQUIREMENTS AND SOURCES OF CASH

Over the next twelve months, the Company’s primary cash requirements will be to fund operating activities, including the acquisition of inventory, and
obligations related to compensation, leases, taxes and other operating activities, as well as to fund capital expenditures, marketing initiatives, quarterly
dividends to stockholders subject to approval by A&F’s Board of Directors and debt service requirements, including required repayments, if any, based on
annual excess cash flows, as defined in the term loan agreement. The Company has availability under the Amended ABL Facility as a source of additional
funding.

The Company expects total capital expenditures to be approximately $110 million for Fiscal 2017, primarily for store updates, new stores, as well as direct-to-
consumer and omnichannel and information technology investments.

The Company may repurchase shares of its Common Stock and, if it were to do so, would anticipate funding such repurchases by utilizing free cash flow
generated from operations or proceeds from the Amended ABL Facility.

As of October 28, 2017, $276.3 million of the Company’s $459.3 million of cash and equivalents was held by foreign affiliates. The Company is not
dependent on dividends from its foreign affiliates to fund its U.S. operations or pay dividends to A&F’s stockholders. Unremitted earnings from foreign
affiliates generally would become subject to U.S. income tax if remitted as dividends or lent to A&F or a U.S. affiliate.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company uses, in the ordinary course of business, stand-by letters of credit under the Amended ABL Facility. The Company had $1.9 million in stand-by
letters of credit outstanding as of October 28, 2017. The Company has no other off-balance sheet arrangements.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The Company’s contractual obligations consist primarily of operating leases, purchase orders for merchandise inventory, unrecognized tax benefits, certain
retirement obligations, lease deposits and other agreements to purchase goods and services that are legally binding and that require minimum quantities to be
purchased. These contractual obligations impact the Company’s short-term and long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. During the thirteen weeks
ended October 28, 2017, there were no material changes in the contractual obligations as of January 28, 2017, with the exception of those obligations which
occurred in the normal course of business (primarily changes in the Company’s merchandise inventory-related purchases and lease obligations, which
fluctuate throughout the year as a result of the seasonal nature of the Company’s operations).

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Company describes its significant accounting policies in Note 2, “SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of A&F’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016. See Note 1, “BASIS OF PRESENTATION--Recent Accounting_Pronouncements” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements included in “ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED),” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for recent accounting
pronouncements, including the dates of adoption or expected dates of adoption, as applicable, and estimated effects on the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The Company describes its critical accounting policies and estimates in “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS”, of A&F's Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016. There have been no significant changes in
critical accounting policies and estimates since the end of Fiscal 2016.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

The Company cautions that any forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or made by the Company, its management or spokespeople involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on
various important factors, many of which may be beyond the Company’s control. Words such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “expect,”

3 s

“anticipate,” “intend,” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements.

» o« » o«

The following factors, including the disclosures under the heading “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS” in “ITEM 1A. RISK
FACTORS” of A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016, in some cases have affected and in the future could affect the Company’s financial
performance and could cause actual results for Fiscal 2017 and beyond to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any of the forward-looking
statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or otherwise made by management:

»  changes in global economic and financial conditions, and the resulting impact on consumer confidence and consumer spending, as well as other
changes in consumer discretionary spending habits, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and liquidity;

*  our inability to anticipate customer demand and changing fashion trends and to manage our inventory commensurately could adversely impact our
sales levels and profitability;

+ our market share may be negatively impacted by increasing competition and pricing pressures from companies with brands or merchandise
competitive with ours;

+  direct-to-consumer sales channels are a significant component of our growth strategy, and the failure to successfully develop our position in these
channels could have an adverse impact on our results of operations;

« our ability to conduct business in international markets may be adversely affected by legal, regulatory, political and economic risks;

+ our inability to successfully implement our strategic plans could have a negative impact on our growth and profitability;

« our failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our brands;

* our business could suffer if our information technology systems are disrupted or cease to operate effectively;

+ we may be exposed to risks and costs associated with cyber-attacks, credit card fraud and identity theft that would cause us to incur unexpected
expenses and reputation loss;

* fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations;

+  changes in the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, labor, transportation and trade relations could cause manufacturing delays and increase
our costs;

*  we depend upon independent third parties for the manufacture and delivery of all our merchandise, and a disruption of the manufacture or delivery of
our merchandise could result in lost sales and could increase our costs;

«  our ability to attract customers to our stores depends, in part, on the success of the shopping malls or area attractions that our stores are located in or
around;

+  werely on the experience and skills of our senior executive officers, the loss of whom could have a material adverse effect on our business;

»  our reliance on DCs makes us susceptible to disruptions or adverse conditions affecting our supply chain;

»  our litigation exposure could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations;

+ our inability or failure to adequately protect our trademarks could have a negative impact on our brand image and limit our ability to penetrate new
markets;

* fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility in our operating results;

» extreme weather conditions and the seasonal nature of our business may cause net sales to fluctuate and negatively impact our results of operations;

+  our facilities, systems and stores, as well as the facilities and systems of our vendors and manufacturers, are vulnerable to natural disasters, pandemic
disease and other unexpected events, any of which could result in an interruption to our business and adversely affect our operating results;

» the impact of war or acts of terrorism could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition;

»  changes in the regulatory or compliance landscape could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

*  our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement and our Term Loan Agreement include restrictive covenants that limit our flexibility in operating our
business; and,

+ compliance with changing regulations and standards for accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and reported financial results.

This list of important factors is not inclusive.
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Future economic and industry trends that could potentially impact revenue and profitability are difficult to predict. Therefore, there can be no assurance that
the forward-looking statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties in the
forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by the Company, or any other
person, that the objectives of the Company will be achieved. The forward-looking statements included herein are based on information presently available to
the management of the Company. Except as may be required by applicable law, the Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise its forward-
looking statements even if experience or future changes make it clear that any projected results expressed or implied therein will not be realized.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Investment Securities

The Rabbi Trust includes amounts to meet funding obligations to participants in the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental
Retirement Plan I, the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan II and the Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan. The Rabbi Trust assets primarily consist of trust-owned life insurance policies which are recorded at cash surrender value. The change in cash surrender
value of the trust-owned life insurance policies held in the Rabbi Trust resulted in realized gains of $0.8 million for each of the thirteen weeks ended October
28, 2017 and October 29, 2016 and $2.3 million for each of the thirty-nine weeks ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016, respectively, which are
recorded in interest expense, net on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The Rabbi Trust assets are included in other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017, and are
restricted in their use as noted above.

Interest Rate Risks

As of October 28, 2017, the Company has approximately $268.3 million in gross borrowings outstanding under its term loan facility (the “Term Loan
Facility”) and no borrowings outstanding under its senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Amended ABL Facility” and, together with the Term Loan
Facility, the “Credit Facilities”). The Credit Facilities carry interest rates that are tied to LIBOR, or an alternate base rate, plus a margin. The interest rate on
the Term Loan Facility has a 100 basis point LIBOR floor, and assuming no changes in the Company’s financial structure as it stands, an increase in market
interest rates of 100 basis points would increase annual interest expense by approximately $3.0 million. This hypothetical analysis for the fifty-three weeks
ending February 3, 2018 may differ from the actual change in interest expense due to potential changes in interest rates or gross borrowings outstanding under
the Company’s Credit Facilities.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

A&F’s international subsidiaries generally operate with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Since the Company’s Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements are presented in U.S. Dollars, the Company must translate revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities from functional currencies into U.S.
Dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the end of the reporting period. The fluctuation in the value of the U.S. Dollar against other currencies affects
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. The potential impact of currency fluctuation increases as international expansion increases.

A&F and its subsidiaries have exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with foreign currency transactions and forecasted foreign
currency transactions, including the sale of inventory between subsidiaries and foreign-currency-denominated assets and liabilities. The Company has
established a program that primarily utilizes foreign currency exchange forward contracts to partially offset the risks associated with the effects of certain
foreign currency transactions and forecasted transactions. Under this program, increases or decreases in foreign currency exchange rate exposures are partially
offset by gains or losses on forward contracts, to mitigate the impact of foreign currency gains or losses. The Company does not use forward contracts to
engage in currency speculation. All outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts are recorded at fair value at the end of each fiscal period.
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The fair value of outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in other current assets was $1.3 million and $6.0 million as of October 28,
2017 and January 28, 2017, respectively. The fair value of outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in other liabilities was $3.6
million and $0.5 million as of October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017, respectively. Foreign currency exchange forward contracts are sensitive to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. The Company assessed the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% devaluation of the U.S. Dollar
against the exchange rates for foreign currencies under contract. The results would decrease derivative contract fair values by approximately $20.9 million.
As the Company’s foreign currency exchange forward contracts are primarily designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions, the hypothetical
change in fair value would be largely offset by the net change in fair values of the underlying hedged items.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

A&F maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that A&F files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to A&F’s management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Because of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.

A&F’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer of A&F (who serves as Principal Executive Officer of A&F) and the Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of A&F (who serves as Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of A&F), evaluated the effectiveness of A&F’s
design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended October 28, 2017. The Chief Executive Officer of A&F
(in such individual’s capacity as the Principal Executive Officer of A&F) and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F (in such
individual’s capacity as the Principal Financial Officer of A&F) concluded that A&F’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable level
of assurance as of October 28, 2017, the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in A&F’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred

during A&F’s fiscal quarter ended October 28, 2017 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, A&F’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See Note 11, “CONTINGENCIES,” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED),” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company's risk factors as of October 28, 2017 have not changed materially from those disclosed in Part I, “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS” of A&F's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2016.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
There were no sales of equity securities during the third quarter of Fiscal 2017 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933.
The following table provides information regarding the purchase of shares of Common Stock of A&F made by or on behalf of A&F or any “affiliated

purchaser” as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, during each fiscal month of the thirteen weeks ended
October 28, 2017:

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Purchased as Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Announced Plans or Purchased under the Plans or
Period (Fiscal Month) Purchased ® Average Price Paid per Share Programs ® Programs ©®
July 30, 2017 through August 26, 2017 460 $ 9.87 — 6,503,656
August 27, 2017 through September 30, 2017 7,524 $ 13.02 — 6,503,656
October 1, 2017 through October 28, 2017 4,963 $ 13.01 — 6,503,656
Total 12,947 $ 12.91 — 6,503,656

M All of the 12,947 shares of A&F’s Common Stock purchased during the thirteen weeks ended October 28, 2017 represented shares which were withheld for tax payments due upon the vesting
of employee restricted stock units.

@ No shares were repurchased during the thirteen weeks ended October 28, 2017 pursuant to A&EF’s publicly announced stock repurchase authorization. On August 14, 2012, A&F’s Board of
Directors authorized the repurchase of 10.0 million shares of A&F’s Common Stock, which was announced on August 15, 2012.

3 The number shown represents, as of the end of each period, the maximum number of shares of A&F’s Common Stock that may yet be purchased under A&F’s publicly announced stock
repurchase authorization described in footnote 2 above. The shares may be purchased, from time-to-time, depending on market conditions.
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ITEM 6.

Exhibit No.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

31.1

31.2

32.1

101

EXHIBITS

Document

Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Scott Lipesky, executed by Mr. Lipesky on August 29, 2017, incorporated herein by

Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Scott Lipesky, effective as of September 7,
2017, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.*

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2017, among_Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.,_as lead

administrative agent for the lenders (including, as Annex A thereto, the composite Credit Agreement dated as of August 7, 2014, as
amended on September 10, 2015 and as further amended on October 19, 2017).* T

Management Co., for itself and as lead borrower for the other borrowers party thereto, the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent.* T

Letter Agreement between Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and Stacia Andersen, executed by Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on December 8,
2016.*

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Associate Stock Purchase Plan (October 1, 2007 Restatement, reflecting_amendment and restatement

effective as of October 1, 2007 of Associate Stock Purchase Plan which was originally adopted effective July 1, 1998).*

Certifications by Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)_pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_or Rule 15d-14(a)_under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certifications by Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)_and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.**

The following materials from Abercrombie & Fitch Co.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 28,
2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Thirteen and Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016; (ii)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows for the Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016; and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.*

*ok

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted based upon a request for confidential treatment, of the confidential information included therein, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"). The non-public confidential information has been separately filed with the SEC in connection with that request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
Date: December 4, 2017 By /s/ Scott Lipesky
Scott Lipesky

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Authorized Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Document

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

31.1

31.2

321

101

Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Scott Lipesky, executed by Mr. Lipesky on August 29, 2017, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated and filed September 6, 2017 (File No. 001-12107).

Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Scott Lipesky, effective as of September 7,
2017, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.*

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2017, among Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., as lead
borrower, the other borrowers and guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent for the lenders (including, as Annex A thereto, the composite Credit Agreement dated as of August 7, 2014, as
amended on September 10, 2015 and as further amended on October 19, 2017).* T

Confirmation, Ratification and Amendment of Ancillary Loan Documents, made as of October 19, 2017, among Abercrombie &
Management Co., for itself and as lead borrower for the other borrowers party thereto, the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent.* T

Letter Agreement between Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and Stacia Andersen, executed by Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on December 8,
2016.*

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Associate Stock Purchase Plan (October 1, 2007 Restatement, reflecting amendment and restatement
effective as of October 1, 2007 of Associate Stock Purchase Plan which was originally adopted effective July 1, 1998).*

Certifications by Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certifications by Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certifications by Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.%*

The following materials from Abercrombie & Fitch Co.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 28,
2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Thirteen and Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016; (ii)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at October 28, 2017 and January 28, 2017; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows for the Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 28, 2017 and October 29, 2016; and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.*

ok

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted based upon a request for confidential treatment, of the confidential information included therein, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"). The non-public confidential information has been separately filed with the SEC in connection with that request.
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EXHIBIT 10.2
AGREEMENT

This AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), is entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., a Delaware corporation (the
"Company"), and Scott Lipesky (the "Executive") as of the execution date by the Company below (the "Effective Date").

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms under which the Executive may
be entitled to severance benefits from the Company upon the occurrence of certain events during the Term of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as
follows:

1. Term of Agreement; Termination of Employment

(a) Term. The term of this Agreement shall be from the Effective Date and for a period of two years thereafter (the “Original Term”);
provided, that, this Agreement shall be automatically extended, subject to earlier termination as provided herein, for successive additional one
year periods (each, an “Additional Term”), on the second anniversary of the Effective Date and each subsequent anniversary thereof unless, at
least 90 days before the date on which an Additional Term otherwise would automatically begin, the Company or the Executive notifies the
other in writing that the Term (as defined below) shall not be extended by any Additional Terms thereafter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a
Change of Control (as defined below) occurs during the Original Term or an Additional Term, the term of this Agreement shall extend until the
later of the Original Term or an Additional Term or the 18-month anniversary of such Change of Control (such extension, together with the
Original Term or any Additional Terms, the “Term”).

(b) At-Will Nature of Employment. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Executive's employment with the Company is and
shall remain "at-will" and the Executive's employment with the Company may be terminated at any time and for any reason (or no reason) by
the Company, with or without notice, or the Executive, subject to the terms of this Agreement. During the period of the Executive's
employment with the Company, the Executive shall perform such duties and fulfill such responsibilities as reasonably requested by the
Company from time to time commensurate with the Executive's position with the Company.

time with or without Cause (as defined below) pursuant to the Notice of Termination provision below.

(d) Termination of Employment by the Executive. During the Term, the Executive may terminate employment with the Company with
or without Good Reason (as defined below) by delivering to the Company, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the Termination Date, a written
notice of termination; provided, that, if such termination of employment is by the Executive with Good Reason, such notice shall state in
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances that constitute Good Reason. This provision does not change the at-will nature of Executive's
employment, and the Company may end Executive's employment, pursuant to Executive's notice, prior to the expiration of the thirty (30) days'
notice.




(e) Notice of Termination. Any termination of the Executive's employment by the Company or by the Executive shall be communicated
by a written Notice of Termination addressed to the Executive or the Company, as applicable. A “Notice of Termination” shall mean a notice
stating that the Executive's employment with the Company has been or will be terminated and the specific provisions of this Section 1 under
which such termination is being effected.

(f) Termination Date. Subject to Section 4(a) hereof, “Termination Date” as used in this Agreement shall mean in the case of the
Executive's death or Disability (as defined below), the date of death or Disability, or in all other cases of termination by the Company or the
Executive, the date specified in writing by the Company or the Executive as the Termination Date in accordance with Section 1(e).

2. Compensation Upon Certain Terminations by the Company.

(a) Termination Without Cause, or for Good Reason. If the Executive's employment is terminated during the Term (i) by the Company
without Cause (other than as a result of the Executive’s death or Disability), or (ii) by the Executive for Good Reason, in each case, other than
during the COC Protection Period (as defined below), the Company shall (A) pay to the Executive any portion of Executive’s accrued but
unpaid base salary earned through the Termination Date; (B) pay to the Executive any annual bonus that was earned by the Executive for the
fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal year in which the Termination Date occurs, to the extent not already paid; (C) reimburse the
Executive for any and all amounts advanced in connection with Executive’s employment with the Company for reasonable and necessary
expenses incurred by Executive through the Termination Date in accordance with the Company’s policies and procedures on reimbursement of
expenses; (D) pay to the Executive any earned vacation pay not theretofore used or paid in accordance with the Company’s policy for payment
of earned and unused vacation time; and (E) provide to the Executive all other accrued but unpaid payments and benefits to which Executive
may be entitled under the terms of any applicable compensation arrangement or benefit plan or program of the Company (excluding any
severance plan or policy of the Company) (collectively, the "Accrued Compensation"). In addition, provided that the Executive executes a
release of claims in a form acceptable to the Company (a “Release”), returns such Release to the Company by no later than 45 days following
the Termination Date (the “Release Deadline”) and does not revoke such Release prior to the expiration of the applicable revocation period (the
date on which such Release becomes effective, the “Release Effective Date”), then subject to the further provisions of Sections 3, 4, and 6
below, the Company shall have the following obligations with respect to the Executive (or the Executive’s estate, if applicable), subject to
applicable taxes and withholdings:

(1) The Company will continue to pay the Executive’s Base Salary (as defined below) during the period beginning on the
Executive’s Termination Date and continuing for eighteen months thereafter (“Salary Continuation”). This Salary Continuation
payment shall be paid in bi-weekly installments, consistent with the Company’s payroll practices. Subject to Sections 4(c) and
4(d) hereof, the first such payment shall be made on the first payroll date following the Release Effective Date, such payment
to include all payments that would have otherwise been payable between the Termination Date and the date of such payment.

(2) The Company will pay to the Executive, at such time as those executives who are actively employed with the Company would
receive payments under the Company’s short-term cash bonus plan in which the Executive was eligible to participate
immediately prior to the Termination Date (but in no event later than



the 15th day of the third month of the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the Termination Date occurred), a pro-rated
amount of the Executive’s bonus under such plan, based on the actual performance during the applicable period, determined in
accordance with the terms of the Plan and subject to the approval of the Compensation and Organization Committee of the
Board of Directors. The pro-rated amount shall be calculated using a fraction where the numerator is the number of days from
the beginning of the applicable bonus period through the Termination Date and the denominator is the total number of days in
the applicable bonus period.

(3) Subject to the Executive's timely election of continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
of 1985, as amended ("COBRA"), during the period in which Salary Continuation is in effect, the Company shall reimburse the
Executive for 100% of the monthly premium costs of COBRA coverage, less applicable withholding taxes on such
reimbursement; provided, however, that the Company's obligation to provide such benefits shall cease upon the earlier of (i)
the Executive's becoming eligible for such benefits as the result of employment with another employer and (ii) the expiration of
the Executive's right to continue such medical and dental benefits under applicable law (such as COBRA); provided, further,
that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be obligated to provide the continuation coverage contemplated by
this Section 2(a)(3) if it would result in the imposition of excise taxes on the Company for failure to comply with the
nondiscrimination requirements of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended, and the Health Care
and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, as amended (to the extent applicable).

(b) Termination for Cause, without Good Reason, or Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated during the Term by the
Company for Cause, by the Executive without Good Reason or by reason of the Executive's death, the Company shall provide the Executive (or
the Executive’s estate, if applicable) with only the Accrued Compensation.

(c) Termination due to Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company by reason of the Executive's Disability,
the Company shall have the following obligations with respect to the Executive (or the Executive’s estate, if applicable): (i) the Company shall
provide the Executive with the Accrued Compensation; and (ii) the Executive shall be entitled to receive any disability benefits available under
the Company's Long-Term Disability Plan (if any). For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” means a physical or mental infirmity which
impairs the Executive's ability to substantially perform the Executive's duties with the Company or its subsidiaries for a period of at least six (6)
months in any twelve (12)-month calendar period as determined in accordance with the Company's long-term disability plan or, in the absence
of such plan, as determined by the Company's Board of Directors (the “Board”).

(d) Change of Control. If the Executive’s employment is terminated during the Term (i) by the Company other than for Cause, or due to
the Executive’s death or Disability or (ii) by the Executive for Good Reason, in each case, during the three months prior to, and the eighteen
months following, a Change of Control (such period, the “COC Protection Period”), then the Company shall provide the Executive with the
Accrued Compensation and, subject to the Executive executing a Release, returning such Release to the Company by no later than the Release
Deadline, and not revoking such Release prior to the expiration of the applicable revocation period, and subject to the further provisions of
Sections 2(j), 3, 4 and 6 below, the Company shall have the following obligations with respect to the Executive (or the Executive’s estate, if
applicable), subject to applicable taxes and withholdings:
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The Company will pay the Executive an amount equal to eighteen months of the Executive's Base Salary in effect on the
Termination Date. Subject to Sections 4(c) and 4(d) hereof, such amount shall be payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60™)
day following the Termination Date, except to the extent that such amount becomes payable on account of a termination that
occurs during the three month period preceding a Change of Control. To that extent, the amount shall be paid at the time
described in Section 2(a)(1) to the extent necessary to avoid the imposition of tax penalties under Section 409A of the Code.

The Company will pay Executive an amount equal to 1.5 times the Executive's Target Bonus. Subject to Sections 4(c) and 4(d)
hereof, such amount shall be payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60%) day following the Termination Date.

Subject to the Executive's timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA for a period of eighteen months following
the Termination Date, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for 100% of the monthly premium costs of COBRA
coverage, less applicable withholding taxes on such reimbursement; provided, however, that the Company's obligation to
provide such benefits shall cease upon the earlier of (i) the Executive's becoming eligible for such benefits as the result of
employment with another employer and (ii) the expiration of the Executive's right to continue such medical and dental benefits
under applicable law (such as COBRA); provided, further, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be
obligated to provide the continuation coverage contemplated by this Section 2(d)(3) if it would result in the imposition of
excise taxes on the Company for failure to comply with the nondiscrimination requirements of the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended, and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, as amended (to the
extent applicable).

(e) Definitions.

)

&)

Base Salary. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Base Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual rate of base salary as in effect
on the applicable date; provided, however, that if the Executive’s employment with the Company is being terminated by the
Executive for Good Reason as a result of a reduction in the Executive’s Base Salary, then “Base Salary” shall, for purposes of
the definition of “Good Reason” and Section 3 of this Agreement, constitute the Executive’s Base Salary as in effect prior to
such reduction.

Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean: (i) the Executive’s conviction of, or entrance of a plea of guilty or
nolo contendere to, a felony under federal or state law; (ii) fraudulent conduct by the Executive in connection with the business
affairs of the Company; (iii) the Executive’s willful refusal to materially perform the Executive’s duties hereunder; (iv) the
Executive’s willful misconduct which has, or would have if generally known, a materially adverse effect on the business or
reputation of the company; or (v) the Executive’s material breach of a covenant, representation, warranty or obligation of the
Executive to the Company. With respect to the circumstances in subsections (iii), (iv), and (v), above, such circumstances will
only constitute “Cause” once the Company has provided the Executive written notice and the Executive has failed to cure such
issue within 30 days. No act or failure to act on the Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or omitted to be
done, by the Executive



in bad faith and without reasonable belief that the Executive’s action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.

(3) Change of Control. For purposes of this Agreement, "Change of Control" shall have the same meaning as such term is defined
in the Company’s 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates; provided, however, that for purposes of this Agreement, such
definition shall only apply to the extent that the event that constitutes such a “Change of Control” also constitutes a “change in
ownership or control” as such term is defined in Section 409A of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”), and the regulations and guidance issued thereunder (“Section 409A of the Code”).

(4) Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean, without the Executive’s written consent: (i) a
reduction in the Executive’s Base Salary or Target Bonus as in effect from time to time; (ii) a material reduction (including as a
result of any co-sharing of responsibilities arrangement) of the Executive’s authority, responsibilities, or duties, (iii) a
requirement that the Executive be based at a location in excess of 50 miles from the location of its principal executive office as
of the date of this Agreement; (iv) the Company fails to obtain the written assumption of its obligations to the Executive under
this Agreement by a successor no later than the consummation of a Change of Control; (v) a material breach by the Company
of its obligations to the Executive under this Agreement; or (vi) in anticipation or contemplation of or following a Change of
Control, as defined above, a material adverse change in the Executive’s reporting structure; which in each of the circumstances
described above, is not remedied by the Company within 30 days of receipt of written notice by the Executive to the Company;
so long as the Executive provides such written notice to the Company no later than 90 days following the first date the event
giving rise to a claim of Good Reason exists;

(5) Target Bonus. “Target Bonus” shall mean the percentage of the Executive’s Base Salary equal to the Executive’s short-term
cash bonus opportunity under the terms of the applicable short-term cash bonus program in which the Executive is entitled to
participate in respect of the fiscal year of the Company in which the Termination Date occurs (if any); provided, however, that
if the Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Executive for Good Reason as a result of a reduction in
the Executive’s Target Bonus, then “Target Bonus” shall mean the Executive’s Target Bonus as in effect immediately prior to
such reduction.

(f) Mitigation. The Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in this Section 2 by seeking
other employment or otherwise and no such payment or benefit shall be eliminated, offset or reduced by the amount of any compensation
provided to the Executive in any subsequent employment, except as provided in Section 2(a)(3) or Section 2(d)(3).

(g) Resignation from Office. The Executive's termination of employment with the Company for any reason shall be deemed to
automatically remove the Executive, without further action, from any and all offices held by the Executive with the Company or its affiliates.
The Executive shall execute such additional documents as requested by the Company from time to time to evidence the foregoing.




(h) Exclusivity. This Agreement is intended to provide severance payments and/or benefits only under the circumstances expressly
enumerated under Section 2 hereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Company in its sole discretion, in the event of a termination of the
Executive's employment with the Company for any reason (or no reason) or at any time other than as expressly contemplated by Section 2
hereof, the Executive shall not be entitled to receive any severance payments and/or benefits or other further compensation from the Company
hereunder whatsoever, except for the Accrued Compensation and any other rights or benefits to which the Executive is otherwise entitled
pursuant to the requirements of applicable law. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 2, all of the Executive's rights to salary,
bonuses, fringe benefits and other compensation hereunder (if any) which accrue or become payable after the Termination Date will cease upon
the Termination Date.

(i) Set-Off. The Executive agrees that, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company may deduct from and set-off against any
amounts otherwise payable to the Executive under this Agreement such amounts as may be owed by the Executive to the Company. The
Executive shall remain liable for any part of the Executive’s payment obligation not satisfied through such deduction and setoff.

(j) Exclusive Remedies. The Executive agrees and acknowledges that the payments and benefits set forth in this Section 2 shall be the
only payments and benefits to which the Executive is entitled from the Company in connection with the termination of the Executive’s
employment with the Company, and that neither the Company nor its subsidiaries shall have any liability to the Executive or the Executive’s
estate, whether under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment.

3. Limitations on Certain Payments. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any amount or benefit to be paid or
provided under this Agreement or otherwise would be an “excess parachute payment,” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, or any
successor provision thereto, but for the application of this sentence, then the payments and benefits identified in the second to last sentence of
this Section 3 to be paid or provided will be reduced to the minimum extent necessary (but in no event to less than zero) so that no portion of
any such payment or benefit, as so reduced, constitutes an excess parachute payment; provided, however, that the foregoing reduction will be
made only if and to the extent that such reduction would result in an increase in the aggregate payment and benefits to be provided to the
Executive, determined on an after-tax basis (taking into account the excise tax imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code, or any successor
provision thereto, any tax imposed by any comparable provision of state law, and any applicable federal, state and local income and
employment taxes). Whether requested by the Executive or the Company, the determination of whether any reduction in such payments or
benefits to be provided under this Agreement or otherwise is required pursuant to the preceding sentence will be made at the expense of the
Company by a certified accounting firm that is independent from the Company. In the event that any payment or benefit intended to be
provided under this Agreement or otherwise is required to be reduced pursuant to this Section 3, the Company will reduce the Executive’s
payments and/or benefits, to the extent required, in the following order: (a) the payments due under Section 2(d)(3) (beginning with the
payment farthest out in time that would otherwise be paid); (b) the payments due under Section 2(d)(1) (beginning with the payment farthest
out in time that would otherwise be paid); (c) the payment due under Section 2(d)(2). The assessment of whether or not such payments or
benefits constitute or would include excess parachute payments shall take into account a reasonable compensation analysis of the value of
services provided or to be provided by the Executive, including any agreement by the Executive (if applicable) to refrain from performing
services pursuant to a covenant not to compete or similar covenant applicable to you that may then be in effect.



4. Section 409A of the Code; Withholding.

(@

(b)

©

(d)

(®

®

This Agreement is intended to avoid the imposition of taxes and/or penalties under Section 409A of the Code. The parties agree
that this Agreement shall at all times be interpreted, construed and operated in a manner to avoid the imposition of taxes and/or
penalties under with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent required for compliance with Section 409A of the Code, all
references to a termination of employment and separation from service shall mean “separation from service” as defined in Section
409A of the Code, and the date of such “separation from service” shall be referred to as the “Termination Date”.

All reimbursements provided under this Agreement shall comply with Section 409A of the Code and shall be subject to the
following requirement: (i) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, during the Executive’s taxable year may not affect
the expenses eligible for reimbursement to be provided in another taxable year; and (ii) the reimbursement of an eligible expense
must be made by December 31 following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred. The right to reimbursement is not
subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, for purposes of the period specified in this Agreement relating to the
timing of the Executive’s execution of the Release as a condition of the Company’s obligation to provide any severance payments
or benefits, if such period would begin in one taxable year and end in a second taxable year, any payment otherwise due to the
Executive upon execution of the Release shall be made in the second taxable year and without regard to when the Release was
executed or became irrevocable.

If the Executive is a “specified employee” (as defined under Section 409A of the Code) on the Executive’s Termination Date, to the
extent that any amount payable under this Agreement constitutes “non-qualified deferred compensation” under Section 409A of the
Code (and is not otherwise excepted from Section 409A of the Code coverage by virtue of being considered “separation pay” or a
“short term deferral” or otherwise) and is payable to Executive based upon a separation from service, such amount shall not be paid
until the first day following the six (6) month anniversary of the Executive’s Termination Date or the Executive’s death, if earlier.

To the maximum extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the payments and benefits under this Agreement are intended
to meet the requirements of the short-term deferral exemption under Section 409A of the Code and the “separation pay exception”
under Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii). Any right to a series of installment payments shall be treated as a right to a series
of separate payments for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.

All amounts due and payable under this Agreement shall be paid less all amounts required to be withheld by law, including all
applicable federal, state and local withholding taxes and deductions.

5. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Executive harmless to the maximum extent permitted by law and the
Company by-laws against all judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and all reasonable expenses, including attorneys’ fees incurred by
the Executive, in connection with the defense of or as a result of any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) in
which the Executive is made or is threatened to be made a party by reason of the fact that the Executive is or was an officer or



director of the Company. Subject to the terms of the Company’s director and officer indemnification policies then in effect, the Company
acknowledges that the Executive will be covered and insured up to the full limits provided by all directors’ and officers’ insurance which the
Company then maintains to indemnify its directors and officers.

6. Executive Covenants.

(@)

(b)

©

For the purposes of this Section 6, the term “Company” shall include Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and all of its
subsidiaries, parent companies and affiliates thereof

Non-Disclosure and Non-Use. The Executive shall not, during the Term and at all times thereafter, without the written
authorization of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the Company or such other executive governing body as may exist in lieu
of the CEO, (hereinafter referred to as the “Executive Approval”), use (except for the benefit of the Company) any Confidential
and Trade Secret Information relating to the Company. The Executive shall hold in strictest confidence and shall not, without the
Executive Approval, disclose to anyone, other than directors, officers, employees and counsel of the Company in furtherance of the
business of the Company, any Confidential and Trade Secret Information relating to the Company. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Confidential and Trade Secret Information” includes: the general or specific nature of any concept in development, the business
plan or development schedule of any concept, vendor, merchant or customer lists or other processes, know-how, designs, formulas,
methods, software, improvements, technology, new products, marketing and selling plans, business plans, development schedules,
budgets and unpublished financial statements, licenses, prices and costs, suppliers, and information regarding the skills,
compensation or duties of employees, independent contractors or consultants of the Company and any other information about the
Company that is proprietary or confidential. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prevent the Executive from
disclosing Confidential and Trade Secret Information to the extent required by law or by any court or regulatory authority having
actual or apparent authority to require such disclosure or in connection with any litigation or arbitration involving this Agreement.

The restrictions set forth in this Section 6(b) shall not apply to information that is or becomes generally available to the public or
known within the Company’s trade or industry (other than as a result of its wrongful disclosure by the Executive), or information
received on a non-confidential basis from sources other than the Company who are not in violation of a confidentiality agreement
with the Company.

The Executive further represents and agrees that, during the Term and at all times thereafter, the Executive is obligated to comply
with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding trading shares and/or exercising
options related to the Company's stock. The Executive acknowledges that the Company has not provided opinions or legal advice
regarding the Executive’s obligations in this respect and that it is the Executive's responsibility to seek independent legal advice
with respect to any stock or option transaction.

Non-Disparagement and Cooperation. Neither the Executive nor any officer, director of the Company, nor any other spokesperson
authorized as a spokesperson by any officer or director of the Company, shall, during the Term or at any time thereafter,
intentionally state or otherwise publish anything about the other party which would adversely affect the reputation, image or
business relationships and




(d)

(®

goodwill of the other party in the market and community at large. During the Term and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall
fully cooperate with the Company in defense of legal claims asserted against the Company and other matters requiring the
testimony or input and knowledge of the Executive. If at any time the Executive should be required to cooperate with the Company
pursuant to this Section 6(c), the Company agrees to promptly reimburse the Executive for reasonable documented costs and
expenses incurred as a result thereof. The Executive agrees that, during the Term and at all times thereafter, the Executive will not
speak or communicate with any party or representative of any party, who is known to the Executive to be either adverse to the
Company in litigation or administrative proceedings or to have threatened to commence litigation or administrative proceedings
against the Company, with respect to the pending or threatened legal action, unless the Executive receives the written consent of
the Company to do so, or is otherwise compelled by law to do so, and then only after advance notice to the Company. Nothing
herein shall prevent the Executive from pursuing any claim in connection with enforcing or defending the Executive’s rights or
obligations under this Agreement, or engaging in any activity as set forth in Section 14 of this Agreement.

Non-Competition. For the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and its subsidiaries and for twelve (12) months
following Executive’s Termination Date with the Company and its subsidiaries for any reason (the “Non-Competition Period”),
Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, without the Executive Approval, own, manage, operate, join, control, be employed by,
consult with or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or be connected with (as a stockholder, partner,
or otherwise), any entity listed on Appendix A attached to this Agreement, or any of their current or future divisions, subsidiaries
or affiliates (whether majority or minority owned), even if said division, subsidiary or affiliate becomes unrelated to the entity on
Appendix A at some future date, or any other entity engaged in a business that is competitive with the Company in any part of the
world in which the Company conducts business or is actively preparing or considering conducting business (“Competing Entity”);
provided, however, that the “beneficial ownership” by the Executive, either individually or by a “group” in which the Executive is
a member (as such terms are used in Rule 13d of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act)), of less than 2% of the voting stock of any publicly held corporation shall not be a violation of this
Section 6(d). The Executive acknowledges and agrees that any consideration that the Executive received in respect of any non-
competition covenant in favor of the Company or its subsidiaries entered into prior to the date hereof shall be incorporated herein
as consideration for the promises set forth in this Section 6(d) and that the provisions contained in this Section 6(d) shall supersede
any prior non-competition covenants between the Executive and the Company or its subsidiaries.

Non-Solicitation. For the period of Executive’s employment with the Company and its subsidiaries and for twenty-four (24)
months following Executive’s Termination Date with the Company and its subsidiaries for any reason (“Non-Solicitation Period”),
the Executive shall not, either directly or indirectly, alone or in conjunction with another party, interfere with or harm, or attempt to
interfere with or harm, the relationship of the Company with any person who at any time was a customer or supplier of the
Company or otherwise had a business relationship with the Company. During the Non-Solicitation Period, the Executive shall not
hire, solicit for hire, aid in or facilitate the hire, or cause to be hired, either as an employee, contractor or consultant, any person
who is currently employed, or was employed at any time during the six-month
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period prior thereto, as an employee, contractor or consultant of the Company. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that any
consideration that the Executive received for in respect of any non-solicitation covenant in favor of the Company or its subsidiaries
entered into prior to the date hereof shall be incorporated herein as consideration for the promises set forth in this Section 6(e) and
that the provisions contained in this Section 6(e) shall supersede any prior non-solicitation covenants between the Executive and
the Company or its subsidiaries.

Confidentiality of this Agreement. Unless this Agreement is required to be publicly disclosed under applicable U.S. securities laws,
the Executive agrees that, during the Term and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall not speak about, write about, or otherwise
publicize or disclose to any third party the terms of this Agreement or any fact concerning its negotiation, execution or
implementation, except with (i) an attorney, accountant, or other advisor engaged by the Executive; (ii) the Internal Revenue
Service or other governmental agency upon proper request; or (iii) the Executive’s immediate family; provided, that all such
persons agree in advance to keep said information confidential and not to disclose it to others. This Section 6(f) shall not prohibit
Executive from disclosing the terms of this Section 6 to a prospective employer.

Remedies. The Executive agrees that any breach of the terms of this Section 6 would result in irreparable injury and damage to the
Company for which the Company would have no adequate remedy at law; the Executive therefore also agrees that in the event of
said breach or any threat of breach, the Company shall be entitled to an immediate injunction and restraining order to prevent such
breach and/or threatened breach and/or continued breach by the Executive and/or any and all persons and/or entities acting for
and/or with the Executive, without having to prove damages. The terms of this Section 6(g) shall not prevent the Company from
pursuing any other available remedies for any breach or threatened breach hereof, including but not limited to the recovery of
damages from the Executive. The Executive and the Company further agree that the confidentiality provisions and the covenants
not to compete and solicit contained in this Section 6 are reasonable and that the Company would not have entered into this
Agreement but for the inclusion of such covenants herein. The parties agree that the prevailing party shall be entitled to all costs
and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, in addition to any other remedies to which either may be entitled at
law or in equity in connection with the enforcement of the covenants set forth in this Section 6. Should a court with jurisdiction
determine, however, that all or any portion of the covenants set forth in this Section 6 is unreasonable, either in period of time,
geographical area, or otherwise, the parties hereto agree that such covenants or portion thereof should be interpreted and enforced
to the maximum extent that such court deems reasonable. In the event of any violation of the provisions of this Section 6, the
Executive acknowledges and agrees that the post-termination restrictions contained in this Section 6 shall be extended by a period
of time equal to the period of such violation, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the running of the applicable post-
termination of employment restriction period shall be tolled during any period of such violation. In the event of a material violation
by the Executive of this Section 6, any severance being paid to the Executive pursuant to Section 2 of this Agreement or otherwise
shall immediately cease, and the aggregate gross amount of any severance previously paid to the Executive shall be immediately
repaid to the Company.



(h) The provisions of this Section 6 shall survive any termination of this Agreement and any termination of the Executive’s
employment, and the existence of any claim or cause of action by the Executive against the Company, whether predicated on this
Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of the covenants and agreements of this
Section 6.

7. Successors and Assigns.

(a) This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Company, its successors and assigns, and the Company
shall require any successor or assign to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession or assignment had taken place. The term “the
Company” as used herein shall include any such successors and assigns to the Company's business and/or assets. The term
“successors and assigns” as used herein shall mean a corporation or other entity acquiring or otherwise succeeding to, directly or
indirectly, all or substantially all the assets and business of the Company (including this Agreement) whether by operation of law or
otherwise.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any right or interest hereunder shall be assignable or transferable by the Executive, the Executive's
beneficiaries or legal representatives, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive's legal personal representative.

8. Arbitration. Except with respect to the remedies set forth in Section 6(g) hereof, any controversy or claim between the Company or any of
its affiliates and the Executive arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its termination shall be settled and determined by a single
arbitrator whose award shall be accepted as final and binding upon the parties. The American Arbitration Association, under its Employment
Arbitration Rules, shall administer the binding arbitration. The arbitration shall take place in Columbus, Ohio. The Company and the Executive
each waive any right to a jury trial or to a petition for stay in any action or proceeding of any kind arising out of or relating to this Agreement or
its termination and agree that the arbitrator shall have the authority to award costs and attorney fees to the prevailing party.

9. Effect on Prior Agreements. Except as otherwise set forth herein, this Agreement supersedes all provisions in prior agreements, either
express or implied, between the parties hereto, with respect to post-termination payments and/or benefits; provided, that, this Agreement shall
not supersede the Company’s 2005, 2007 or 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plans (or any other applicable equity plan) or any applicable award
agreements evidencing equity-based incentive awards thereunder (the “Equity Documents”), and any rights of the Executive with respect to
equity-based incentive awards hereunder shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any rights pursuant to the Equity Documents. No provisions
of this Agreement shall supersede or nullify the clawback provisions in the Equity Documents or any of the applicable Company incentive
compensation plans.

10. Notice. For the purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this Agreement (including the Notice of
Termination) shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered or sent by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or upon receipt if overnight delivery service or facsimile is used, addressed as follows:



To the Executive:
To Executive's last home address as listed in the books and records of the Company.

To the Company:

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
6301 Fitch Path

New Albany, Ohio 43054

Attn: General Counsel

11. Miscellaneous. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived, or discharged unless such waiver, modification, or discharge is
agreed to in writing and signed by the Executive and the Company. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other
party hereto of, or compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver
of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsequent time. No agreement or representations, oral or
otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the subject matter hereof have been made by either party which are not expressly set forth in this
Agreement.

12.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio
without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof. Except as provided in Section 8, any actions or proceedings instituted under this
Agreement with respect to any matters arising under or related to this Agreement shall be brought and tried only in the Court of Common
Please, Franklin County, Ohio.

13.  Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof.

14. Protected Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement limits Executive’s ability to file a charge or complaint with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or commission (“Government Agencies”). Executive further
understands that this Agreement does not limit Executive’s ability to communicate with any Government Agencies or otherwise participate in
any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including providing documents or other information,
without notice to the Company. This Agreement does not limit Executive’s right to receive an award from a Government Agency for
information provided to any Government Agency.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereto set his hand this 29th day of August, 2017.

/s/ Scott Lipesky

Scott Lipesky

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereto set his hand this 7th day of September, 2017.

/s/ Arthur C. Martinez

Arthur C. Martinez
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors
Abercrombie & Fitch Co.



Appendix A

(all current and future (as described in Section 6(d) of the Agreement) subsidiaries, divisions and affiliates of the entities below)

American Eagle Outfitters, Inc.

Gap, Inc.

J. Crew Group, Inc.

Pacific Sunwear of California, Inc.

Urban Outfitters, Inc.

Aeropostale, Inc.

Polo Ralph Lauren Corporation

Ascena Retail Group

Lululemon Athletica, Inc.

Levi Strauss & Co.

L Brands (formerly known as Limited Brands, including, without
limitation, Victoria’s Secret, Pink, Bath & Body Works, La Senza and
Henri Bendel)

Express, Inc.

Nike, Inc.

Under Armour, Inc.

Amazon.com, Inc.




EXHIBIT 10.3

EXECUTION VERSION
Those portions of the Schedules to the Composite Credit
Agreement included as Annex A to this Second Amendment
to Credit Agreement marked with an [*] have been omitted
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment of the
confidential information included therein filed with the SEC

and such confidential information has been separately filed
with the SEC in connection with the request.

Confidential Treatment Requested

Under 17 C.E.R. § 200.80(b)(4)
and 17 C.E.R. § 240.24b-2

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of October 19, 2017
among

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH MANAGEMENT CO.,,
as Lead Borrower,

The Other Borrowers Party Hereto,
The Guarantors Party Hereto,
The Lenders Party Hereto,
and

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent for the Lenders



SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of October 19, 2017

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is by and among ABERCROMBIE & FITCH
MANAGEMENT CO., a Delaware corporation (the “Lead Borrower”), the other Borrowers and Guarantors party hereto, the Lenders party
hereto, and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Agent”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the Guarantors, the Lenders and the Agent entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 7,
2014 (as amended pursuant to that certain First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated September 10, 2015, and as further amended, restated,
amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Loan Parties have requested that the Agent and the Lenders agree to amend the Credit Agreement as specifically set
forth herein and, subject to the terms of this Amendment, the Agent and the Lenders have agreed to grant such request.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Amendment (including without
limitation in the introductory paragraph and the Preliminary Statements hereto) shall have the meanings as specified in the Credit Agreement.

Section 2. Amendments to Credit Agreement.

(@) Composite Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete the bold, stricken text (indicated textually in
the same manner as the following example: striekertext) and to add the bold, double-underlined text (indicated textually in the
same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) as set forth in the pages of the Credit Agreement attached as
Annex A hereto.

(b) Schedules and Exhibits to Credit Agreement. The Schedules and Exhibits to the Credit Agreement are hereby deleted in their
entirety and the Schedules and Exhibits attached to Annex A hereto are substituted in their stead.

Section 3. Conditions of Effectiveness. The effectiveness of the amendments in Section 2 shall be subject to the
satisfaction of each of the following conditions precedent:

(@) This Amendment and all documents described on Exhibit A hereto shall have been duly executed and delivered by the Loan
Parties and the Lenders party thereto and shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent;

(b) The Agent shall have received, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and duly executed by the
Borrowers, a Note in favor of each Lender requesting a Note and reflecting the Commitment of such Lender after giving effect to this
Amendment;



(c) The Agent shall be satisfied with the results of lien searches with respect to the Loan Parties and all filings, recordations and
searches necessary or desirable (as reasonably determined by the Agent) to reflect the valid and perfected liens and security interests of the
Agent shall have been duly made and all filing and recording fees and taxes shall have been duly paid;

(d) The Agent shall have received satisfactory opinions of Vorys, Sater, Seymour & Pease LLP, addressed to the Agent and
each Lender, as to such matters concerning the Loan Parties, the Amendment and the other Loan Documents as the Agent may reasonably
request (which shall cover, among other things, authority, legality, validity, binding effect and enforceability of the Amendment);

(e) The Agent shall have received such certificates of resolutions or other action, incumbency certificates and/or other
certificates of Responsible Officers of each Loan Party as the Agent may require evidencing (i) the authority of each Loan Party to enter into
this Amendment and the other Loan Documents to which such Loan Party is a party or is to become a party and (ii) the identity, authority and
capacity of each Responsible Officer thereof authorized to act as a Responsible Officer in connection with this Amendment and the other Loan
Documents to which such Loan Party is a party or is to become a party together with copies of each Loan Party’s Organization Documents,
good standing certificates and such other documents and certifications as the Agent may reasonably require to evidence that each Loan Party is
duly organized or formed;

) The Agent shall be reasonably satisfied that there has been no Material Adverse Effect since the date of the Audited
Financial Statements;

(8) The Agent shall have received and be satisfied with updated financial projections and business assumptions for the Parent
and its subsidiaries on (i) a quarterly basis for the remainder of the 2017 fiscal year and (ii) on an annual basis, for the two fiscal years
thereafter, including, in each case, a consolidated income statement, balance sheet, statement of cash flow and borrowing base availability
analysis;

(h) After giving effect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated on the Second Amendment Effective Date and the
Credit Extensions made on the Second Amendment Effective Date, Availability shall not be less than $250,000,000;

@) The Agent shall have received a Borrowing Base Certificate dated July 29, 2017 and executed by a financial officer of the
Lead Borrower;

(1)) The Agent shall have received evidence that all insurance required to be maintained pursuant to the Loan Documents and all
endorsements in favor of the Agent required under the Loan Documents have been obtained and are in effect;

(k) The Borrowers shall have (i) paid all fees then due to the Agent, Arrangers and the Lenders, (ii) reimbursed the Agent for all
reasonable and documented costs and expenses, including, reasonable appraisers, auditors, and attorneys’ fees, and (iii) shall have paid all fees
in accordance with the terms of the Second Amendment Fee Letter;

1)) The representations and warranties of the Loan Parties contained in Section 4 shall be true and correct; and

(m) The Agent shall have received such additional documents, instruments, and agreements as the Agent may reasonably
request in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.



Section 4. Representations and Warranties of the I.oan Parties. Each Loan Party represents and warrants as follows:

(@) The execution, delivery and performance by such Loan Party of its obligations in connection with this Amendment are
within its corporate (or other organizational) powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate (or other organizational) action and
do not and will not (i) violate any provision of its articles or certificate of incorporation or bylaws or similar organizing or governing
documents of such Loan Party, (ii) contravene any applicable Law which is applicable to such Loan Party or (iii) conflict with, result in a
breach of or constitute (with notice, lapse of time or both) a default under any material indenture or instrument or other material agreement to
which such Loan Party is a party, by which it or any of its properties is bound or to which it is subject, except, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii)
above, to the extent such contraventions, conflicts, breaches or defaults could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Such Loan Party has taken all necessary corporate (or other organizational) action to execute, deliver and perform this
Amendment and has validly executed and delivered this Amendment. This Amendment constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such
Loan Party, enforceable against each Loan Party that is party thereto in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether
considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(© No material consent, approval, authorization or other action by, notice to, or registration or filing with, any Governmental
Authority or other Person is or will be required as a condition to or otherwise in connection with the due execution, delivery and performance
by such Loan Party of this Amendment, except such as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect.

(d) After giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties contained in each of the Loan Documents are true
and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such date (other than any such representations or
warranties that, by their terms, refer to a specific date, in which case as of such specific date).

(e) No Default or Event of Default shall exist after giving effect to this Amendment.

Section 5. Reference to and Effect on the I.oan Documents. On and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each
reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and
each reference in each of the other Loan Documents to “the Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the
Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, and this Amendment shall
constitute a Loan Document.

(@) The Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, as specifically amended by this Amendment, are and shall
continue to be in full force and effect and are hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Security Documents and all of the Collateral described therein do and shall continue to secure the payment of all Obligations of the Loan
Parties under the Loan Documents, in each case as amended by this Amendment.

(b) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a
waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver of any other
provision of any of the Loan Documents.



Section 6. Reaffirmations. Each Loan Party (a) consents to this Amendment and agrees that the transactions
contemplated by this Amendment shall not limit or diminish the obligations of such Person, or release such Person from any obligations, under
any of the Loan Documents to which it is a party, (b) subject to Section 4(d) hereof, confirms and reaffirms its obligations under each of the
Loan Documents to which it is a party and all representations, warranties, and covenants contained therein, and (c) agrees that each of the Loan
Documents to which it is a party remains in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and confirmed.

Section 7. Execution in Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto
in different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Amendment by facsimile or in electronic (i.e., “pdf” or “tif”) format shall be
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

Section 8. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
State of New York.

Section 9. Entire Agreement. This Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and any separate letter agreements with
respect to fees payable to the Agent, the L/C Lender, each Swing Line Lender and/or the Arrangers, constitute the entire agreement among the
parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the
subject matter hereof.

[Signature Pages Follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly
authorized, as of the date first above written.

BORROWERS:

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH

MANAGEMENT CO., as Lead Borrower
ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC.

JM. HOLLISTER, LLC

GILLY HICKS, LLC

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH TRADING CO., as Borrowers

By: /s/ Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Name: Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Title:  Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



GUARANTORS:

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO., as Parent and as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Name: Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.

Title:  Senior Vice President - Tax, Treasury and Risk
Management and Treasurer

A & F TRADEMARK, INC.

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH HOLDING CORPORATION
HOLLISTER CO.

J.M.H. TRADEMARK, INC.

HOLLISTER CO. CALIFORNIA, LL.C

AFH PUERTO RICO LL.C

A&F CANADA HOLDING CO., as Guarantors

By: /s/ Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Name: Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Title:  Senior Vice President and Treasurer

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH PROCUREMENT SERVICES, LLC, as a Guarantor

By: Abercrombie & Fitch Trading Co.,
its Sole Member

By: /s/ Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Name: Everett E. Gallagher, Jr.
Title:  Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Agent, L/C Issuer and
Swing Line Lender, and as a Lender

By: /s/ Jai Alexander
Name: Jai Alexander

Its Authorized Signatory

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as L/C Issuer and as a Lender

By: /s/ Michael Byrne
Name: Michael Byrne
Title:  Assistant Vice President

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as L/C Issuer and a Lender

By: /s/ David J. Waugh
Name: David J. Waugh
Title:  Authorized Officer

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



CITIZENS BUSINESS CAPITAL F/K/A RBS CITIZENS BUSINESS CAPITAL,
A DIVISION OF CITIZENS ASSET FINANCE, INC. F/K/A RBS ASSET
FINANCE, INC., as a Lender

By: /s/ Christine Scott

Name: Christine Scott
Title: SVP

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,, as a Lender

By: /s/ Stephen Garvin

Name: Stephen Garvin
Title: Managing Director

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



THE HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANK, as a Lender

By: /s/ Elizabeth Murray
Name: Elizabeth Murray
Title:  Senior Vice President

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



HSBC BANK USA, N.A,, as a Lender

By: /s/ Jaime Mariano

Name: Jaime Mariano

Title:  Senior Vice President

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ Thomas P. Chidester
Name: Thomas P. Chidester
Title:  Vice President

Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement
Signature Page



Annex A
Composite Credit Agreement

[see attached]
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of August 7, 26442014,
As amended on September 10, 2015
As further amended on October 19, 2017

among
ABERCROMBIE & FITCH MANAGEMENT CO.,
as the Lead Borrower
For
The Borrowers Named Herein,
The Guarantors Named Herein,

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Agent, L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender,

and
The Other Lenders Party Hereto

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Syndication Agent and L/C Issuer

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Documentation Agent and L/C Issuer

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
PNC CAPITAL MARKETS LL.C
and
as JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as
Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners
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CommittedLIBOR Rate Loan Notice
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F Borrowing Base Certificate

G Credit Card Notification

H-1 through H4 Tax Compliance Certificates

CREDIT AGREEMENT

This CREDIT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into as of August 7, 2014. as amended on Sentember 10. 2015. and
as further amended on October 19, 2017. among

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH MANAGEMENT CO., a Delaware corporation (the “Lead Borrower”),
(vi)



the Persons named on Schedule 1.01 hereto (collectively, the “Borrowers”),
the Persons named on Schedule 1.02 hereto (collectively, the “Guarantors”),

each lender from time to time party hereto (collectively, the “Lenders” and individually, a “Lender”),

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Agent, L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender;
PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Syndication Agent; and
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Documentation Agent.

The Borrowers have requested that the Lenders provide a revolving credit facility, and the Lenders are willing to lend and
the L/C Issuer is willing to issue Letters of Credit, in each case on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS

1.01 Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Acceptable Document of Title” means, with respect to any Inventory, a tangible, negotiable bill of lading or other
Document (as defined in the UCC) that (a) is issued by a common carrier which is not an Affiliate of the foreign vendor or any
Loan Party which is in actual possession of such Inventory, (b) is issued to the order of a Loan Party or, if so requested by the
Agent, to the order of the Agent, (c) names the Agent as a notify party and bears a conspicuous notation on its face of the Agent’s
security interest therein, (d) is not subject to any Lien (other than in favor of the Agent and the Term Agent), and (e) is on terms
otherwise reasonably acceptable to the Agent.

“ACH” means automated clearing house transfers.

“Accommodation Payment” has the meaning specified in Section 10.20(d).

“Account” means “accounts” as defined in the UCC, and also means a right to payment of a monetary obligation, whether
or not earned by performance, (a) for property that has been or is to be sold, leased, licensed, assigned, or otherwise disposed of, (b)
for services rendered or to be rendered, or (c) arising out of the use of a credit or charge card or information contained on or for use
with the card.

“Acquisition” means, with respect to any Person (a) an investment in, or a purchase of, a Controlling interest in the Equity
Interests of any other Person, (b) a purchase or other acquisition
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of all or substantially all of the assets or properties of another Person, (c) any merger or consolidation of such Person with any other
Person or other transaction or series of related transactions resulting in the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets, or of a
Controlling interest in the Equity Interests, of any Person, or (d) any acquisition by such Person of any group of Store locations
comprising more than five percent (5%) of the number of Stores operated by the acquiring Person as of the date of such acquisition,
in each case acquired in any transaction or group of transactions which are part of a common plan.

“Additional Commitment Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(c).
“Adjusted HHBOLIBOR Rate” means:

(a) for any Interest Period with respect to any HHBGLIBOR Borrowing, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/100 of one percent) equal to (i) the FFBOLIBOR Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (ii) the
Statutory Reserve Rate; and

(b) for any interest rate calculation with respect to any Base Rate Loan, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the next 1/100 of one percent) equal to (i) the HHBSLIBOR Rate for an Interest Period commencing on the date of
such calculation and ending on the date that is thirty (30) days thereafter multiplied by (ii) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

The Adjusted FFBOLIBOR Rate will be adjusted automatically as of the effective date of any change in the Statutory
Reserve Rate.

“Adjustment Date” means the first day of each Fiscal Quarter, commencing with the first full Fiscal Quarter ending after the
ClesingSecond Amendment Effective Date.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Agent.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, (i) another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified, (ii) any director, officer,
managing member, partner, trustee, or beneficiary of that Person, (iii) any other Person directly or indirectly holding 10% or more
of any class of the Equity Interests of that Person, and (iv) any other Person 10% or more of any class of whose Equity Interests is
held directly or indirectly by that Person.

“Agent” means Wells Fargo in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent under any of the Loan Documents, or
any successor thereto.

“Agent Parties” has the meaning specified in Section 10.02(c).

“Agent’s Office” means the Agent’s address and account as set forth on Schedule 10.02, or such other address or account as
the Agent may from time to time notify the Lead Borrower and the Lenders.

“Aggregate Commitments” means the Commitments of all the Lenders. As of the SlesingSecond Amendment Effective
Date, the Aggregate Commitments are $400,000,000.




“Agreement” means this Credit Agreement.

“Allocable Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 10.20(d).

o = h o a ho A g =
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Berrewer:Anti-Corruption Laws” means the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, as amended, and all other applicable laws and
regulations or ordinances concerning or relating to bribery, money laundering or corruption in any jurisdiction in which any Loan
Party or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is located or is doing business.

“Anti-Money Laundering L.aws” means the applicable laws or regulations in any jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or

laundering, or any financial record keeping and reporting requirements related thereto.

“Applicable Lenders” means the Required Lenders, all affected Lenders, or all Lenders, as the context may require.
“Applicable Margin” means:

(a) From and after the SlesingSecond Amendment Effective Date until the first Adjustment Date, the
percentages set forth in Level HI of the pricing grid below; and

(b) From and after the first Adjustment Date and on each Adjustment Date thereafter, the Applicable Margin
shall be determined from the following pricing grid based upon the Average Daily Availability as of the Fiscal Quarter
ended immediately preceding such Adjustment Date;—previded;-however—that{—until-the - Adjustment Date—whieh—is

arroary ) v, ) o

reguirements—forLevel I-have beenmet); and (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required
Lenders shall, upon written notice to the Lead Borrower, increase the Applicable Margin to that set forth in Level HiII
(even if the Average Daily Availability requirements for a different Level have been met) and interest shall, at the
Agent’s election or at the direction of the Required Lenders, accrue at the Default Rate; provided further if any
Borrowing Base Certificates are at any time restated or otherwise revised (including as a result of an audit, but excluding
revisions resulting from (x) normal year-end audit adjustments and changes in GAAP or its application to the financial
statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.01 of this Agreement or (y) any other cause other than the correction of an
error, omission or misrepresentation of the Loan Parties) or if the information set forth in any Borrowing Base
Certificates otherwise proves to be false or incorrect such that the Applicable Margin would have been higher than was
otherwise in effect during any period, without constituting a waiver of any Default or Event of Default arising as a result
thereof, interest due under this Agreement shall be
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immediately recalculated at such higher rate for any applicable periods and shall be due and payable on demand.

Average Daily LIBOR Base Rate ~ Commercial Letter Standby Letter
Level Availability Margin Margin of Credit Fee of Credit Fee

Equal to or
greater than
6650% of the
I Loan Cap 1.25% 0.25% 0.75% 1.25%

Feuto-or

greaterLess than

220 eftheloan

Copbulensthen

6650% of the

I Loan Cap 1.50% 0.50% 1.00% 1.50%
I sSs {haH 3%04 ef
thelean-tap
H —+-75% 075% +25% +75%

“Applicable Percentage” means with respect to any Lender at any time, the percentage (carried out to the ninth decimal
place) of the Aggregate Commitments represented by such Lender’s Commitment at such time. If the commitment of each Lender
to make Loans and the obligation of the L/C Issuer to make L/C Credit Extensions have been terminated pursuant to Section 8.02
or if the Aggregate Commitments have expired, then the Applicable Percentage of each Lender shall be determined based on the
Applicable Percentage of such Lender most recently in effect, giving effect to any subsequent assignments. The initial Applicable
Percentage of each Lender is set forth opposite the name of such Lender on Schedule 2.01 or in the Assignment and Assumption
pursuant to which such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable.

“Appraised Value” means, (a) with respect to Eligible Inventory, the appraised orderly liquidation value, net of costs and
expenses to be incurred in connection with any such liquidation, which value is expressed as a percentage of Cost of Eligible
Inventory as set forth in the inventory stock ledgers of the Loan Parties, which value shall be determined from time to time by the
most recent appraisal undertaken by an independent appraiser engaged by the Agent or (b)_with respect to Eligible Real Estate, the
fair market value of Eligible Real Estate as set forth in the most recent appraisal of Eligible Real Estate as determined from time to
time by an independent appraiser engaged by the Agent.

“Approved Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing,
holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its activities and that
is administered or managed by

-10-
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(a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender, (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender or (d) the
same investment advisor or an advisor under common control with such Lender, Affiliate or advisor, as applicable.

“Arrangers” means each of Wells Fargo, PNC Capital Markets LL.C and #RMergan-Seenrities -l-EJPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., in their respective capacities as joint lead arranger and joint bookrunner.

“Assignee Group” means two or more Eligible Assignees that are Affiliates of one another or two or more Approved Funds
managed by the same investment advisor.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an Eligible Assignee
(with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 10.06(b)), and accepted by the Agent, in substantially the form
of Exhibit E or any other form approved by the Agent and the Lead Borrower.

“Audited Financial Statements” means the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Parent and its Subsidiaries for the
Fiscal Year ended February——2044;January 28, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of income or operations,
Shareholders’ Equity and cash flows for such Fiscal Year of the Parent and its Subsidiaries, including the notes thereto.

“Availability” means, as of any date of determination thereof by the Agent, the result, if a positive number, of:
(a) The Loan Cap
Minus
(b) The Total Outstandings.
“Availability Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to the earliest of (a) the Maturity Date, (b) the

date of termination of the Aggregate Commitments pursuant to Section 2.06, and (c) the date of termination of the commitment of
each Lender to make Loans and of the obligation of the L/C Issuer to make L/C Credit Extensions pursuant to Section 8.02.

“Availability Reserves” means, without duplication of any other Reserves or items to the extent such items are otherwise
addressed or excluded through eligibility criteria, Bank Product Reserves, Cash Management Reserves, the Debt Maturity Reserve,
Realty Reserves, and such other reserves as the Agent from time to time determines in its Permitted Discretion as being appropriate
(a) to reflect the impediments to the Agent’s ability to realize upon the Collateral, (b) to reflect claims and liabilities that the Agent
determines will need to be satisfied in connection with the realization upon the Collateral or (c) to reflect criteria, events,
conditions, contingencies or risks which adversely affect any component of the Borrowing Base, or the assets, business, financial
performance or financial condition of any Loan Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Availability Reserves shall not include (i)
Bank Product Reserves for the credit exposure of any Loan Party or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Parent under a Swap
Contract or foreign exchange facility except after the occurrence of a Weekly Borrowing Base Delivery Event or (ii) other Bank
Products Reserves until such time as Availability is less than 17.5% of the Loan Cap.

-11-
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“Average Daily Availability” means, for any Fiscal Quarter, an amount equal to (a) the sum of Availability for each day of
such Fiscal Quarter divided by (b) the actual number of days in such Fiscal Quarter.

“Bail-In_Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable EEA Resolution
Authority in respect of any liability of an EEA Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing_Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU
of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from

time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.

“Bank Products” means any services of facilities provided to any Loan Party or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the
Parent by a Lender Counterparty (but excluding Cash Management Services) including, without limitation, on account of (a) Swap
Contracts, (b) merchant services constituting a line of credit, (c) leasing, (d) foreign exchange facilities, and (e) supply chain
finance services including, without limitation, trade payable services and supplier accounts receivable purchases.

“Bank Product Reserves” means such reserves as the Agent from time to time determines in its Permitted Discretion as
being appropriate to reflect the liabilities and obligations of the Loan Parties or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Parent with
respect to Bank Products then provided or outstanding.

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus one-
half of one percent (0.50%), (b) the Adjusted EFBS-RateLIBOR Rate (which rate shall be calculated based upon an Interest Period
of one month and shall be determined on a daily basis) plus one percent (1.00%), exrand (c) the rate of interest ineffeetforsuch-day
as-publiely announced, from time to time by, within Wells Fargo at its principal office in San Francisco as its “prime rate*~Fhe

» )

day-speeifiedinthe public-announcement-of sueh—<ehange”, with the understanding that the “prime rate” is one of Wells Fargo’s
those loans making reference thereto and is evidenced by the recording thereof after its announcement in such internal publications
as Wells Fargo may designate.

“Base Rate I.oan” means a Loan that bears interest at the Base Rate.

“Blocked Account” means the deposit accounts maintained by the Loan Parties in which funds of any of the Loan Parties
from one or more DDAs (other than Excluded DDAs) are concentrated.

“Blocked Account Agreement” means with respect to any Blocked Account, an agreement, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, establishing control, pursuant to

-12-
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Section 9-104 of the UCC or other applicable section of the UCC, of such account by the Agent and whereby the bank maintaining
such account agrees, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a Cash Dominion Event, to comply only with the
instructions originated by the Agent without the further consent of any Loan Party.

“Blocked Account Bank” means each bank at which a Blocked Account is maintained and with whom a Blocked Account
Agreement has been, or is required to be, executed in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Borrower Materials” has the meaning specified in Section 6.02.

“Borrowers” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto.
“Borrowing” means a Committed Borrowing or a Swing Line Borrowing, as the context may require.

“Borrowing Base” means, at any time of calculation, an amount equal to:

(a) 90% multiplied by the face amount of Eligible Credit Card Receivables;

plus

(b) 85% multiplied by the face amount of Eligible Trade Receivables (net of Receivables Reserves applicable
thereto);

plus

(©) the Cost of Eligible Inventory, net of Inventory Reserves, multiplied by the product of ninetypereent
£96%)Inventory Advance Rate multiplied by the Appraised Value of Eligible Inventory;

plus

(d) the Real Estate Advance Rate multiplied by the Appraised Value of Eligible Real Estate; provided that

Borrowing Base;

minus
(e) &) the then applicable amount of all Availability Reserves.
“Borrowing Base Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto (with such changes therein as
may be required by the Agent to reflect the components of, and reserves against, the Borrowing Base from time to time as provided

for hereunder), executed and certified as accurate and complete by a Responsible Officer of the Lead Borrower, which shall include
appropriate exhibits, schedules and supporting documentation as reasonably requested by the Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

-13-
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“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized to
close under the Laws of, or are in fact closed in, the state where the Agent’s Office is located and, if such day relates to any
HBOLIBOR Rate Loan, means any London Business Day.

“Capital Expenditures” means, with respect to any Person for any period, (a) all expenditures made (whether made in the
form of cash or other property) or costs incurred for the acquisition or improvement of fixed or capital assets of such Person
(excluding normal replacements and maintenance which are properly charged to current operations), in each case that are set forth
as capital expenditures in a Consolidated statement of cash flows of such Person for such period, in each case prepared in
accordance with GAAP, and (b) Capital Lease Obligations incurred by a Person during such period, but excluding Permitted
Acquisitions.

“Capital Lease Obligations” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the obligations of such Person to pay rent or
other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination
thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital lease liabilities on a balance sheet of such
Person under GAAP and the amount of which obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with
GAAP.

“Cash Collateral Account” means a non-interest bearing account established by one or more of the Loan Parties with Wells
Fargo, and in the name of, the Agent (or as the Agent shall otherwise direct) and under the sole and exclusive dominion and control
of the Agent, in which deposits are required to be made in accordance with Section 2.03(k) or 8.02(c).

“Cash Collateralize” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(k). Derivatives of such term have corresponding meanings.

“Cash Dominion Event” means either (i) the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default, or (ii) the failure of the
Borrowers to maintain Availability of the greater of at least (a) 12.5% of the Loan Cap or (b) $35,000,000 for five (5) consecutive
Business Days. For purposes of this Agreement, the occurrence of a Cash Dominion Event shall be deemed continuing at the
Agent’s option (i) so long as such Event of Default has not been waived, and/or (ii) if the Cash Dominion Event arises as a result of
the Borrowers’ failure to achieve Availability as required hereunder, until Availability has exceeded the greater of (x) 12.5% of the
Loan Cap or (y) $35,000,000 for thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, in which case a Cash Dominion Event shall no longer be
deemed to be continuing for purposes of this Agreement; provided that a Cash Dominion Event shall be deemed continuing (even if
an Event of Default is no longer continuing and/or Availability exceeds the required amount for (30) consecutive calendar days) at
all times during any twelve month period if a Cash Dominion Event occurs at any time after a Cash Dominion Event has occurred
and been discontinued on two (2) occasions during such twelve month period after the Closing Date. The termination of a Cash
Dominion Event as provided herein shall in no way limit, waive or delay the occurrence of a subsequent Cash Dominion Event in
the event that the conditions set forth in this definition again arise.

“Cash Management Reserves” means such reserves as the Agent, from time to time, determines in its Permitted Discretion
as being appropriate to reflect the reasonably anticipated
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liabilities and obligations of the Loan Parties or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Parent with respect to Cash Management
Services then provided or outstanding.

“Cash Management Services” means any cash management services or facilities provided to any Loan Party or any direct or
indirect subsidiary of the Parent by any Lender Counterparty, including, without limitation: (a) ACH transactions, (b) controlled
disbursement services, treasury, depository, overdraft, and electronic funds transfer services, (c) credit or debit cards, (d) credit card
processing services, and (e) purchase cards.

“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.

“CERCLIS” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Information System
maintained by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

“CFC” means a Person that is a controlled foreign corporation under Section 957 of the Code.

“CEC Holdco” means any Domestic Subsidiary with no material assets other than the direct or indirect ownership of Equity
Interests in one or more CFCs.

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the adoption or taking
effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration,
interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) the making or issuance of any request, guideline or
directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that notwithstanding anything herein
to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all rules, guidelines or directives
thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (y) all rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International
Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign
regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the
date enacted, adopted or issued.

“Change of Control” means:

(a) the acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, on or after the Closing Date, by
any Person or group (within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the SEC thereunder as in
effect on the date-hereefSecond Amendment Effective Date but in all cases other than the Parent or any Subsidiary of the
Parent, in each case including, without limitation, in its fiduciary capacity, or any employee benefit plan of the Parent or any
Subsidiary of the Parent, or any entity or trustee holding Equity Interests for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan or for
the purpose of funding any such plan or funding other employee benefits for employees of the Parent or any Subsidiary of
the Parent), of Equity Interests representing more than 33% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the
issued and outstanding Equity Interests of the Parent as of the date of such acquisition; or
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(b) the Parent fails at any time to own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the Equity Interests of each other Loan Party
free and clear of all Liens (other than the Liens in favor of the Agent and the Term Agent), except where such failure is as a
result of a transaction permitted by the L.oan Documents.

“Closing Date” means the first date all the conditions precedent in Section 4.01 are satisfied or waived in accordance with
Section 10.01.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect.

“Collateral” means any and all “Collateral” or “Mortgaged Property” as defined in any applicable Security Document and
all other property that is or is intended under the terms of the Security Documents to be subject to Liens in favor of the Agent;
provided that “Collateral” shall in no event include a pledge of the Equity Interests of a CFC or CFC Holdco by a Person unless
such pledge is limited to 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests, and 100% of the non-voting Equity Interests, of such CFC
or CFC Holdco.

“Collateral Access Agreement” means an agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent executed by
(a) a bailee or other Person in possession of Collateral in excess of $2,000,000, and (b) any landlord of Real Estate leased by any
Loan Party, pursuant to which such Person (i) acknowledges the Agent’s Lien on the Collateral, (ii) releases or subordinates such
Person’s Liens in the Collateral held by such Person or located on such Real Estate, (iii) provides the Agent with reasonable access
to the Collateral held by such bailee or other Person or located in or on such Real Estate, (iv) as to any landlord, provides the Agent
with a reasonable time to sell and dispose of the Collateral from such Real Estate, and (v) makes such other agreements with the
Agent as the Agent may reasonably require related to the use and access of the Collateral.

“Collection Account” has the meaning specified in Section 6.13(b).

“Commercial Letter of Credit” means any Letter of Credit issued for the purpose of providing the primary payment
mechanism in connection with the purchase of any materials, goods or services by a Loan Party in the ordinary course of business
of such Loan Party.

“Commercial Letter of Credit Agreement” means the Commercial Letter of Credit Agreement relating to the issuance of a
Commercial Letter of Credit in the form from time to time in use by the L/C Issuer.

“Commitment” means, as to each Lender, its obligation to (a) make Committed Loans to the Borrowers pursuant to Section
2.01, (b) purchase participations in L/C Obligations, and (c) purchase participations in Swing Line Loans, in an aggregate principal
amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or in the
Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Lender becomes a party hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be adjusted
from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

“Commitment Increase” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(a).
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“Committed Borrowing” means a borrowing consisting of simultaneous Committed Loans of the same Type and, in the case
of FIBOLIBOR Rate Loans, having the same Interest Period made by each of the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.01.

“Committed Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(a).

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.), as amended from time to time,
and any successor statute.

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit D.
“Concentration Account” has the meaning specified in Section 6.13(d).

“Consent” means actual consent given by a Lender from whom such consent is sought; or the passage of ten (10) Business
Days from receipt of written notice to a Lender from the Agent of a proposed course of action to be followed by the Agent without
such Lender giving the Agent written notice of that Lender’s objection to such course of action.

“Consolidated” means, when used to modify a financial term, test, statement, or report of a Person, the application or
preparation of such term, test, statement or report (as applicable) based upon the consolidation, in accordance with GAAP, of the
financial condition or operating results of such Person and its Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, at any date of determination, an amount equal to Consolidated Net Income of the Parent
and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated basis for the most recently completed Measurement Period, plus (a) the following to the
extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Consolidated Interest Charges, (ii) the provision for Federal, state,
local and foreign income Taxes, (iii) depreciation and amortization expense (including impairment of long-term store fixed assets),
(iv) non-cash stock-based compensation expense, (v) other non-recurring expenses reducing such Consolidated Net Income which
do not represent a cash item in such period or any future period, (¥vi) for any Measurement Period (or portion thereof) prior to the
Closing Date through and including January 31, 2016, (x) charges and expenses relating to process improvement initiatives in an
amount not to exceed $25,000,000, (y) corporate governance charges in an amount not to exceed $10,000,000, and (z) restructuring
charges relating to the wind down of the Gilly Hicks business line in an amount not to exceed $70,000,000, and (wivii) other non-
recurring cash expenses reducing such Consolidated Net Income in an aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000 during any
applicable Measurement Period (in each case of or by the Parent and its Subsidiaries for such Measurement Period) minus (b) to the
extent included in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Federal, state, local and foreign income tax credits (to the extent
not already deducted in calculating (a)(ii) above and (ii) all non-cash income or gain increasing Consolidated Net Income for such
period (but excluding any such items to the extent they represent (1) the reversal in such period of an accrual of, or reserve for,
potential cash expense in a prior period, (2) any non-cash gains with respect to cash
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actually received in a prior period to the extent such cash did not increase Consolidated Net Income in a prior period or (3) items
representing ordinary course accruals of cash to be received in future periods), all as determined on a Consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, at any date of determination, the ratio of (a) (x) (i) Consolidated
EBITDA for such period, minus (ii) Capital Expenditures made during such period, minus (iii) the aggregate amount of Federal,
state, local and foreign income taxes paid in cash during such period, plus (y) Qualified Cash of the Loan Parties for such period to
(b) the sum of (i) Debt Service Charges plus (ii) the aggregate amount of all Restricted Payments, in each case, of or by the Parent
and its Subsidiaries for the most recently completed Measurement Period, all as determined on a Consolidated basis in accordance
with GAAP.

“Consolidated Interest Charges” means, for any Measurement Period, the sum of (a) all interest, premium payments, debt
discount, fees, charges and related expenses in connection with borrowed money (including capitalized interest) or in connection
with the deferred purchase price of assets, in each case to the extent treated as interest in accordance with GAAP, but excluding any
non-cash or deferred interest financing costs, and (b) the portion of Capital Lease Obligations with respect to such period that is
treated as interest in accordance with GAAP minus (c) interest income during such period (excluding any portion of interest income
representing accruals of amounts received in a previous period), in each case of or by the Parent and its Subsidiaries for the most
recently completed Measurement Period, all as determined on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, as of any date of determination, the net income of the Parent and its Subsidiaries for the
most recently completed Measurement Period, all as determined on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, provided,
however, that there shall be excluded therefrom (a) extraordinary gains and extraordinary losses for such Measurement Period, (b)
the income (or loss) of such Person during such Measurement Period in which any other Person has a joint interest, except to the
extent of the amount of cash dividends or other distributions actually paid in cash to such Person during such period, (c) the income
(or loss) of such Person during such Measurement Period and accrued prior to the date it becomes a Subsidiary of a Person or any
of such Person’s Subsidiaries or is merged into or consolidated with a Person or any of its Subsidiaries or that Person’s assets are
acquired by such Person or any of its Subsidiaries, and (d) the income of any direct or indirect Subsidiary of a Person to the extent
that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by that Subsidiary of that income is not at the time permitted
by operation of the terms of its Organization Documents or any agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or
governmental regulation applicable to that Subsidiary, except that the Parent’s equity in any net loss of any such Subsidiary for
such Measurement Period shall be included in determining Consolidated Net Income.

“Contractual Obligation” means, as to any Person, any provision of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to
which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or
policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting
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powetr, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Cost” means the lower of cost or market value of Inventory, based upon the applicable Loan Parties’ accounting practices,
known to the Agent, which practices are in effect on the Closing Date, with such changes as permitted by GAAP and with respect
to any such material changes, for which the Lead Borrower has notified the Agent that such material changes have been made as
promptly as is practicable, as such calculated cost is determined from invoices received by the Loan Parties, the Loan Parties’
purchase journals or the Loan Parties’ inventory stock ledgers.

“Credit Card Issuer” means any person (other than a Borrower or other Loan Party) who issues or whose members issue
credit cards, including, without limitation, MasterCard or VISA bank credit or debit cards or other bank credit, debit or charge
cards issued through MasterCard International, Inc., Visa, U.S.A., Inc. or Visa International and American Express, Discover,
Diners Club, Carte Blanche and other non-bank credit, debit or charge cards, including, without limitation, credit, debit or charge
cards issued by or through American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., and Novus Services, Inc. and other issuers
approved by the Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

“Credit Card Processor” means any servicing or processing agent or any factor or financial intermediary who facilitates,
services, processes or manages the credit authorization, billing transfer and/or payment procedures with respect to any Borrower’s
sales transactions involving credit card or debit card purchases by customers using credit cards or debit cards issued by any Credit
Card Issuer,_including, without limitation, PayPal, Inc.

“Credit Card Notifications” has the meaning specified in Section 6.13(a)(i).

“Credit Card Receivables” means each “payment intangible” (as defined in the UCC) together with all income, payments
and proceeds thereof, owed by a Credit Card Issuer or Credit Card Processor to a Loan Party resulting from charges by a customer
of a Loan Party on credit, debit or charge cards issued by such Credit Card Issuer in connection with the sale of goods by a Loan
Party, or services performed by a Loan Party, in each case in the ordinary course of its business.

“Credit Extensions” mean each of the following: (a) a Borrowing and (b) an L/C Credit Extension.

“Credit Party” or “Credit Parties” means (a) individually, (i) each Lender and its Affiliates, (ii) the Agent, (iii) each L/C
Issuer, (iv) the Arrangers, (v) each Lender Counterparty and (vi) the successors and permitted assigns of each of the foregoing, and
(b) collectively, all of the foregoing.

“Credit Party Expenses” means, without limitation, (a) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by
the Agent and its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including without limitation (i) the
reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of (A) counsel for the Agent, (B) outside consultants for the Agent, (C) appraisers, (D)
commercial finance examinations, and (E) all such reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any
workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of the Obligations,
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(ii) in connection with (A) the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein, (B) the preparation, negotiation,
administration, management, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or any amendments,
modifications or waivers of the provisions thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be
consummated), (C) the enforcement or protection of their rights in connection with this Agreement or the Loan Documents or
efforts to preserve, protect, collect, or enforce the Collateral, or (D) any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of any
Obligations, and (iii) all customary fees and charges (as adjusted from time to time) of the Agent with respect to the disbursement
of funds (or the receipt of funds) to or for the account of Borrowers (whether by wire transfer or otherwise), together with
reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, and (b) with respect to the L/C Issuer, and its
Affiliates, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the issuance, amendment, renewal or
extension of any Letter of Credit or any demand for payment thereunder; and (c) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by the Credit Parties who are not the Agent, the L/C Issuer or any Affiliate of any of them in enforcing any
Obligations of or in collecting any payments due from any Loan Party hereunder or under the other Loan Documents; provided that
such Credit Parties shall be entitled to reimbursement for no more than one counsel representing all such Credit Parties under the
Loan Documents (absent an actual or perceived conflict of interest in which case the Credit Parties may engage and be reimbursed
for additional counsel).

“Customs Broker/Carrier Agreement” means an agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent
among a Borrower, a customs broker, freight forwarder, consolidator or carrier, and the Agent, in which the customs broker, freight
forwarder, consolidator or carrier acknowledges that it has control over and holds the documents evidencing ownership of the
subject Inventory for the benefit of the Agent and agrees, upon notice from the Agent, to hold and dispose of the subject Inventory
solely as directed by the Agent.

“DDA” means each checking, savings or other demand deposit account maintained by any of the Loan Parties. All funds in
each DDA shall be conclusively presumed to be Collateral and proceeds of Collateral and the Agent and the Lenders shall have no
duty to inquire as to the source of the amounts on deposit in any DDA.

“Debt Maturity Reserve” means, during any Debt Reserve Period, an amount equal to the then outstanding principal balance

Facility made during such Debt Reserve Period to the extent such payments are permitted under this Agreement) until the earlier of
the repayment of the Term Facility (including as a result of a Permitted Refinancing thereof)_or the extension of the maturity date of

maintained as an Availability Reserve if at any time during the Debt Reserve Period on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the
repayment of all outstanding_amounts under the Term Facility, Liquidity of the Loan Parties is less than $175,000,000;_provided
that not less than $100,000,000 of such Liquidity must be in the form of Availability.

“Debt Reserve Period” means the period beginning on the 60 day prior to the maturity date of the Term Facility and ending
on the date of the repayment in full of the Term Facility. If
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“Debt Service Charges” means for any Measurement Period, the sum of (a) Consolidated Interest Charges paid or required
to be paid for such Measurement Period, plus (b) principal payments scheduled to be made on account of Indebtedness (excluding
the Obligations and any Synthetic Lease Obligations but including, without limitation, Capital Lease Obligations) for such
Measurement Period, in each case determined on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“Debtor Relief T.aws” means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship,
bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar
debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of
creditors generally.

“Default” means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or that, with the giving of any notice, the
passage of time, or both, would be an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means (a) when used with respect to Obligations other than Letter of Credit Fees, an interest rate equal to (i)
the Base Rate plus (ii) the Applicable Margin, if any, applicable to Base Rate Loans, plus (iii) 2% per annum; provided, however,
that with respect to a EHBOLIBOR Rate Loan, the Default Rate shall be an interest rate equal to the interest rate (including any
Applicable Margin) otherwise applicable to such Loan plus 2% per annum, and (b) when used with respect to Letter of Credit Fees,
a rate equal to the Applicable Margin for Standby Letters of Credit or Commercial Letters of Credit, as applicable, plus 2% per
annum.

“Defaultrng Lender” means any Lender that (a) has farled to fuﬁd—any—ametnﬁs—reqtnred—to—be—fmaéed—by—ﬁ—uﬁder—ehﬁ

GredH—Brsbafseﬂaeﬂt(r) fund all or any_portlon of its Loans w1th1n two Busrness Days of the date such Loans were requrred to be
funded hereunder, or (ii)_pay_to Agent, L/C Issuer, or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder
(including in respect of its participation in Letters of Credit) within two Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the
Berrowers;-theany Borrower, Agent; or anyerderL/C Issuer in writing that it does not intend to comply with al-er-any-pertien-of

its fundrng obhgatrons uﬁdeﬁﬂﬁsﬂ%gfeeﬂaefﬁ—fe)hereunder or has made a public statement to the-effeet-thatit-deesnotintend—+o

Agenﬂ—ander—whreh—ﬁ—has—eom&&&ed—to—e*tend—eredﬁ—(d)that effect (C) has failed, wrthrn eﬂe—(—lathree Busrness BayDays after

written request by the Agent or Lead Borrower to conf1rrn in wrltlng to Agent and Lead Borrower that it will Cornply with the
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inselvent-er{ii)-beeomeshereunder (provided, that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting I.ender pursuant to this clause (c)
upon receipt of such written confirmation by A Agent and Lead Borrower) or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company. that
has, (1) become the subject of

a_receiver, Custodran conservator,_trustee,_administrator, a551gnee for the benefit of creditors or snnrlar Person charged with
reorganization or hquldatron of 1ts business or assets 1nc1ud1ng the Federal Deposrt Insurance CorDoratron or any other state or

Barl -in Actron,_provrded that a Lender shall not be a
Defaultrng Lender solely by virtue of the ownershrD or aCCIUISltIOl‘l of any ec equ1ty interest in that Lender or any drrect or indirect

agreements made with such Lender. Any determination by Agent that a Lender is a Defaultrng Lender under any one or more of
clauses (a)_through (d)_above shall be conclusive and binding_absent manifest error,_and such Lender shall be deemed to be a
Defaulting Lender upon delivery of written notice of such determination to Lead Borrower, L/C Issuer, and each Lender.

“Defaulting L.ender Rate” means (a) for the first three (3) days from and after the date the relevant payment is due, the Base
Rate, and (b) thereafter, the interest rate then applicable to Committed I.oans that are Base Rate Loans (inclusive of the Applicable
Margin applicable thereto).

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (including any sale and leaseback
transaction and any sale, transfer, license or other disposition of (whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) of any
property (including, without limitation, any Equity Interests other than Equity Interests of the Parent) by any Person (or the
granting of any option or other right to do any of the foregoing), including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or
without recourse, of any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith .

“Disqualified Institutions” means any banks, financial institutions or other Persons separately identified by the Lead
Borrower to the Arrangers prior to the Closing Date.

“Disqualified Stock” means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is
convertible, or for which it is exchangeable, in each case at the option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event,
matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or redeemable at the option of the holder
thereof, in whole or in part, on or prior to the date that is ninety-one (91) days after the Maturity Date; provided, however, that (i)
only the portion of such Equity Interests which so matures or is mandatorily redeemable, is so convertible or exchangeable or is so
redeemable at the option of the
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holder thereof prior to such date shall be deemed to be Disqualified Stock and (ii) with respect to any Equity Interests issued to any
employee or to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Parent or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such
Equity Interest shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Parent or one of
its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations or as a result of such employee’s termination,
resignation, death or disability and if any class of Equity Interest of such Person that by its terms authorizes such Person to satisfy
its obligations thereunder by delivery of an Equity Interest that is not Disqualified Stock, such Equity Interests shall not be deemed
to be Disqualified Stock. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Equity Interest that would constitute Disqualified Stock
solely because the holders thereof have the right to require a Loan Party to repurchase such Equity Interest upon the occurrence of a
change of control or an asset sale shall not constitute Disqualified Stock. The amount of Disqualified Stock deemed to be
outstanding at any time for purposes of this Agreement will be the maximum amount that the Parent and its Subsidiaries may
become obligated to pay upon maturity of, or pursuant to any mandatory redemption provisions of, such Disqualified Stock or
portion thereof, plus accrued dividends.

“Documentation Agent” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
“Dollars” and “$” mean lawful money of the United States.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of the United States of America, any State
thereof or the District of Columbia (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Subsidiary organized under the laws of Puerto Rico
or any other territory).

“Drawing Document” means any Letter of Credit or other document presented for purposes of drawing under any Letter of
Credit, including by electronic transmission such as SWIFT, electronic mail, facsimile or computer generated communication.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a)_any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country

Institution.

“Eligible Assignee” means (a) a Credit Party or any of its Affiliates; (b) a bank, insurance company, or company engaged in
the business of making commercial loans, which Person, together with its Affiliates, has a combined capital and surplus in excess
of $250,000,000; (c) an Approved Fund; and (d) any other Person (other than a natural Person) satisfying the requirements
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the Loan Parties’ Affiliates or Subsidiaries, or (y) unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, Disqualified
Institutions.

“Eligible Credit Card Receivables” means at the time of any determination thereof, each Credit Card Receivable that
satisfies the following criteria at the time of creation and continues to meet the same at the time of such determination: such Credit
Card Receivable (i) has been earned by performance and represents the bona fide amounts due to a Loan Party from a Credit Card
Issuer or Credit Card Processor, and in each case originated in the ordinary course of business of such Loan Party, and (ii) is not
ineligible for inclusion in the calculation of the Borrowing Base pursuant to any of clauses (a) through (i) below. Without limiting
the foregoing, to qualify as an Eligible Credit Card Receivable, such Credit Card Receivable shall indicate no Person other than a
Loan Party as payee or remittance party. In determining the amount to be so included, the face amount of a Credit Card Receivable
shall be reduced by, without duplication, to the extent not reflected in such face amount, (i) the amount of all accrued and actual
discounts, claims, credits or credits pending, promotional program allowances, price adjustments, finance charges or other
allowances (including any amount that a Loan Party may be obligated to rebate to a customer, a Credit Card Issuer or Credit Card
Processor pursuant to the terms of any agreement or understanding (written or oral)) and (ii) the aggregate amount of all cash
received in respect of such Credit Card Receivable but not yet applied by the Loan Parties to reduce the amount of such Credit Card
Receivable. Except as otherwise agreed by the Agent, any Credit Card Receivable included within any of the following categories
shall not constitute an Eligible Credit Card Receivable:

(a) Credit Card Receivables which do not constitute a “payment intangible” (as defined in the UCC) or
Account;

(b) Credit Card Receivables that have been outstanding for more than five (5) Business Days from the date of
sale;

(@] Credit Card Receivables (i) that are not subject to a perfected first-priority security interest in favor of the
Agent, or (ii) with respect to which a Loan Party does not have good, valid and marketable title thereto, free and clear of
any Lien (other than Liens granted to the Agent pursuant to the Security Documents, to the Term Agent pursuant to the
Term Documents, and other Permitted Encumbrances arising by operation of Law);

(d) Credit Card Receivables which are disputed, are with recourse, or with respect to which a claim,
counterclaim, offset or chargeback has been asserted (to the extent of such claim, counterclaim, offset or chargeback);

(e) Credit Card Receivables as to which the Credit Card Issuer or Credit Card Processor has required a Loan
Party to repurchase the Credit Card Receivables from such Credit Card Issuer or Credit Card Processor in connection
with customer returns or fraudulent credit transactions;
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) Credit Card Receivables due from a Credit Card Issuer or Credit Card Processor which is the subject of
any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings;

(8) Credit Card Receivables which are not a valid, legally enforceable obligation of the applicable Credit Card
Issuer or Credit Card Processor with respect thereto;

(h) Credit Card Receivables which do not conform in all material respects (subject to any materiality
qualifiers contained therein) to all representations, warranties or other provisions in the Loan Documents relating to
Credit Card Receivables; or

(i) Credit Card Receivables which the Agent determines in its Permitted Discretion to be uncertain of
collection or which do not meet such other reasonable eligibility criteria for Credit Card Receivables as the Agent may
determine in its Permitted Discretion.

“Eligible In-Transit Inventory” means, as of any date of determination thereof, without duplication of other Eligible
Inventory, In-Transit Inventory:

(a) That has been shipped from a location outside of the United States for receipt by a Loan Party, but which has
not yet been delivered to such Loan Party, which In-Transit Inventory has been in transit for sixty (60) days or less from the
date of shipment of such Inventory;

(b) For which the purchase order is in the name of a Loan Party and title to such Inventory and risk of loss has
passed to such Loan Party;

(c) That has been shipped from a location outside of the United States and with respect to which an Acceptable
Document of Title has been issued, and in each case as to which the Agent has control (as defined in the UCC) over the
documents of title which evidence ownership of the subject Inventory (such as, if requested by the Agent, by the delivery of
a Customs Broker/Carrier Agreement);

(d)  That is insured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Agent (including, without limitation, marine cargo
insurance); and

(e) Which otherwise would constitute Eligible Inventory;

provided that the Agent may, in its Permitted Discretion, exclude any particular Inventory from the definition of “Eligible
In-Transit Inventory” in the event the Agent determines in its Permitted Discretion that such Inventory is subject to any
Person’s right of reclamation, repudiation, stoppage in transit or any event has occurred or is reasonably anticipated by the
Agent to arise which may otherwise adversely impact the ability of the Agent to realize upon such Inventory.

“Eligible Inventory” means, as of the date of determination thereof, without duplication, (i) Eligible In-Transit Inventory,
and (ii) items of Inventory of a Loan Party that are finished goods, merchantable and readily saleable in the ordinary course of such
Loan Party’s business, in each
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case that, except as otherwise agreed by the Agent, (A) complies with each of the representations and warranties with respect to
Inventory made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents, and (B) is not excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or more of the
criteria set forth below, the following items of Inventory shall not be included in Eligible Inventory:

(@) Inventory that is not solely owned by a Loan Party or a Loan Party does not have good and valid title
thereto free and clear of any Lien (other than Liens granted to the Agent pursuant to the Security Documents, to the Term
Agent pursuant to the Term Documents, and other Permitted Encumbrances arising by operation of Law);

(b) Inventory that is leased by or is on consignment to a Loan Party or which is consigned by a Loan Party to
a Person which is not a Loan Party;

(©) Inventory (other than Eligible In-Transit Inventory) that is not located in the United States of America
(excluding territories or possessions of the United States (other than Puerto Rico));

(d Inventory that is not located at a location that is owned or leased by a Loan Party, except (i) Inventory in
transit between such owned or leased locations or locations which meet the criteria set forth in clause (ii) below, (ii) to
the extent that the Loan Parties have furnished the Agent with (A) any UCC financing statements or other documents that
the Agent may determine to be necessary to perfect its security interest in such Inventory at such location, and (B) a
Collateral Access Agreement executed by the Person owning any such location on terms reasonably acceptable to the
Agent or (iii) Work Room Inventory in an aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000 at any time;

(e) Inventory that is located in a distribution center or warehouse leased by a Loan Party unless either (i) the
applicable lessor has delivered to the Agent a Collateral Access Agreement or (ii) the Agent has established an
Availability Reserve therefor;

® Inventory that is comprised of goods which (i) are damaged, defective, “seconds,” or otherwise
unmerchantable, (ii) are to be returned to the vendor, (iii) are obsolete or slow moving, or custom items, work-in-process,
raw materials, or that constitute samples, spare parts, promotional, marketing, labels, bags and other packaging and
shipping materials or supplies used or consumed in a Loan Party’s business, (iv) not in compliance with all standards
imposed by any Governmental Authority having regulatory authority over such Inventory, its use or sale, or (v) are bill
and hold goods;

(8 Inventory that is not subject to a perfected first-priority security interest in favor of the Agent (other than,
with respect to In-Transit Inventory, statutory Liens in favor of carriers permitted under clause (b) of the definition of
“Permitted Encumbrances”);

(h) Inventory that is not insured in compliance with the provisions of Section 5.10 hereof;
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(i) Inventory that has been sold but not yet delivered or as to which a Loan Party has accepted a deposit;

)] Inventory that is subject to any licensing, patent, royalty, trademark, trade name or copyright agreement
with any third party from which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of a dispute in
respect of any such agreement and such dispute relates to the use of such license by a Loan Party;

k) Inventory acquired in a Permitted Acquisition or which is not of the type usually sold in the ordinary
course of the Loan Parties’ business, unless and until the Agent has completed or received (A) an appraisal of such
Inventory from appraisers satisfactory to the Agent and establishes an advanee—rateInventory Advance Rate and
Inventory Reserves (if applicable) therefor, and otherwise agrees that such Inventory shall be deemed Eligible Inventory,
and (B) upon the reasonable request of the Agent, such other due diligence as the Agent may require, all of the results of
the foregoing to be reasonably satisfactory to the Agent; or

Q)] Inventory which does not meet such other reasonable eligibility criteria for Eligible Inventory as the Agent
may determine in its Permitted Discretion.

“Eligible Real Estate” means Real Estate deemed by the Agent in its Permitted Discretion to be eligible for inclusion in the
calculation of the Borrowing Base and which, except as otherwise agreed by the Agent, in its Permitted Discretion, satisfies all of
the following conditions:

(a) A Loan Party owns such Real Estate in fee simple;

(b) Either the Term Facility has been paid in full or the Term Agent has consented to an amendment of the
Intercreditor Agreement and the Term Documents to allow such Eligible Real Estate to be included in the Borrowing Base
and to be subject to the first priority Lien of the Agent;

() The Agent shall have received evidence that all actions that the Agent may reasonably deem necessary _or

Encumbrances securing_Indebtedness)_which have priority over the Lien of the Agent by operation of Law and (y)
otherwise to Permitted Encumbrances which are junior to the Lien of the Agent) on the property described in the
Mortgages has been taken.

(d) The Agent shall have received an appraisal (based upon Appraised Value) of such Real Estate complying
with the requirements of FIRREA by a third party appraiser reasonably acceptable to the Agent and otherwise in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent; and

(e) The Real Estate Eligibility Requirements have been satisfied.
“Eligible Trade Receivables” means each Account eligible for inclusion in the calculation of the Borrowing Base arising

from the sale of the Loan Parties’ Inventory (but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Credit Card Receivables) that satisfies the
following criteria at the time of
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creation and continues to meet the same at the time of such determination: such Account (i) has been earned by performance and
represents the bona fide amounts due to a Loan Party from an account debtor, and in each case originated in the ordinary course of
business of such Loan Party, and (ii) in each case is acceptable to the Agent in its Permitted Discretion, and is not ineligible for
inclusion in the calculation of the Borrowing Base pursuant to any of clauses (a) through (u) below as determined by the Agent in
its Permitted Discretion. Without limiting the foregoing, to qualify as an Eligible Trade Receivable, an Account shall indicate no
Person other than a Loan Party as payee or remittance party. In determining the amount to be so included, the face amount of an
Account shall be reduced by, without duplication, to the extent not reflected in such face amount, (i) the amount of all accrued and
actual discounts, claims, credits or credits pending, promotional program allowances, price adjustments, finance charges or other
allowances (including any amount that a Loan Party may be obligated to rebate to a customer pursuant to the terms of any
agreement or understanding (written or oral)) and (ii) the aggregate amount of all cash received in respect of such Account but not
yet applied by the Loan Parties to reduce the amount of such Eligible Trade Receivable. Except as otherwise agreed by the Agent,
any Account included within any of the following categories shall not constitute an Eligible Trade Receivable:

(a) Accounts that are not evidenced by an invoice;

(b) Accounts that have been outstanding for more than one hundred and twenty (120) days from the date of
sale or more than sixty (60) days past the due date;

(0 Accounts due from any account debtor for which fifty (50%) percent or more of the Accounts due from
such account debtor are ineligible pursuant to clause (b), above.

(d) All Accounts owed by an account debtor and/or its Affiliates together exceed twenty percent (20%) (or
any higher percentage now or hereafter established by the Agent for any particular account debtor) of the amount of all
Accounts at any one time (but the portion of the Accounts not in excess of the applicable percentages may be deemed
Eligible Trade Receivables, in the Agent’s Permitted Discretion); provided that this clause (d) shall not be applicable
until such time as the amount of Eligible Trade Receivables included in the Borrowing Base exceeds five (5%) percent of
the Borrowing Base;

(e) Accounts (i) that are not subject to a perfected first-priority security interest in favor of the Agent, or (ii)
with respect to which a Loan Party does not have good, valid and marketable title thereto, free and clear of any Lien
(other than Liens granted to the Agent pursuant to the Security Documents, to the Term Agent pursuant to the Term
Documents, and other Permitted Encumbrances arising by operation of Law);

i) Accounts which are disputed or with respect to which a claim, counterclaim, offset or chargeback has been
asserted, but only to the extent of such dispute, counterclaim, offset or chargeback;
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(8) Accounts which arise out of any sale made not in the ordinary course of business, made on a basis other
than upon credit terms usual to the business of the Loan Parties or are not payable in Dollars;

(h) Accounts which are owed by any account debtor whose principal place of business is not within the
continental United States or Canada;

1) Accounts which are owed by any Affiliate or any employee of a Loan Party;

)] Accounts for which all consents, approvals or authorizations of, or registrations or declarations with any
Governmental Authority required to be obtained, effected or given in connection with the performance of such Account
by the account debtor or in connection with the enforcement of such Account by the Agent have been duly obtained,
effected or given and are in full force and effect;

(k) Accounts due from an account debtor which is the subject of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding,
has had a trustee or receiver appointed for all or a substantial part of its property, has made an assignment for the benefit
of creditors or has suspended its business;

Q)] Accounts due from any Governmental Authority except to the extent that the subject account debtor is the
federal government of the United States of America and has complied with the Federal Assignment of Claims Act of
1940 and any similar state legislation;

(m) Accounts (i) owing from any Person that is also a supplier to or creditor of a Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries unless such Person has waived any right of setoff in a manner acceptable to the Agent or (ii) representing
any manufacturer’s or supplier’s credits, discounts, incentive plans or similar arrangements entitling a Loan Party or any
of its Subsidiaries to discounts on future purchase therefrom;

(n) Accounts arising out of sales on a bill-and-hold, guaranteed sale, sale-or-return, sale on approval or
consignment basis or subject to any right of return, set off or charge back;

(0) Accounts arising out of sales to account debtors outside the United States unless such Accounts are fully
backed by an irrevocable letter of credit on terms, and issued by a financial institution, acceptable to the Agent and such

irrevocable letter of credit is in the possession of the Agent;

(p) Accounts payable other than in Dollars or that are otherwise on terms other than those normal and
customary in the Loan Parties’ business;

(@ Accounts evidenced by a promissory note or other instrument;

(r) Accounts consisting of amounts due from vendors as rebates or allowances;
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(s) Accounts which are in excess of the credit limit for such account debtor established by the Loan Parties in

the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices;

)] Accounts which include extended payment terms (datings) beyond those generally furnished to other
account debtors in the ordinary course of business;

(u) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is a Sanctioned Person or Sanctioned Entity; or

v) 1) Accounts which the Agent determines in its Permitted Discretion to be uncertain of collection or which
do not meet such other reasonable eligibility criteria for Accounts as the Agent may determine.

non-compliance with Environmental Laws, or (b)_to correct any such non-compliance with Environmental L.aws or to provide for
any Environmental Liability.

“Environmental L.aws” means any and all Federal, state, local, and foreign statutes, laws, regulations, ordinances, rules,
judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to
pollution and the protection of the environment or the release of any materials into the environment, including those related to
hazardous substances or wastes, air emissions and discharges to waste or public systems.

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for damages, costs of
environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of any Borrower, any other Loan Party or any of their respective
Subsidiaries directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use,
handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d)
the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other
consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Equipment” has the meaning set forth in the UCC.

“Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit
interests in) such Person, all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase or acquisition from such Person of shares of
capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, all of the securities convertible into or exchangeable for
shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options for the purchase or
acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and all of the other ownership or profit interests in such
Person (including partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares,
warrants, options, rights or other interests are outstanding on any date of determination.
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“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with any Loan Party
within the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Code for purposes of provisions
relating to Section 412 and 4971 of the Code).

“ERISA Event” means (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) a withdrawal by any Loan Party or any
ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which it was a substantial employer
(as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA) or a cessation of operations that is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e)
of ERISA; (c) a complete or partial withdrawal by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate from a Multiemployer Plan or
notification to the Lead Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization; (d) the filing of a notice of
intent to terminate, the treatment of a plan amendment as a termination of a Pension Plan or a Multiemployer Plan under Sections
4041 or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of proceedings by the PBGC to terminate a Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan;
(e) an event or condition which constitutes grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a
trustee to administer, any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; (f) the imposition of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other
than for PBGC premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon the Lead Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate;
or (g) the determination that any Pension Plan is considered to be an “at-risk” plan, or that any Multiemployer Plan is considered to
be in “endangered” or “critical” status within the meaning of Sections 430, 431 and 432 of the Code or Sections 303, 304 or 305 of
ERISA.

“European Sub-Facility” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the I.oan Market Association
(or any successor person), as in effect from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 8.01.

“Excluded DDA” means any deposit account exclusively used for payroll or employee benefits or which is a trust or
fiduciary account.

“Excluded Subsidiary” means each (i) Unrestricted Subsidiary, (ii) Immaterial Subsidiary, (iii) Domestic Subsidiary that is a
Subsidiary of a CFC, (iv) CFC or CFC Holdco, and (v) Subsidiary that is prohibited by applicable Law, rule or regulation or by any
contractual obligation existing on the Closing Date or existing at the time of acquisition thereof after the Closing Date, in each case
from guaranteeing the Obligations and the Term Facility or that would require governmental (including regulatory) consent,
approval, license or authorization to provide a guarantee unless such consent, approval, license or authorization has been received,
or that would result in an adverse Tax consequence to the Lead Borrower or one of its Subsidiaries (including as a result of the
operation of Section 956 of the Code or any similar Law or regulation in any applicable jurisdiction) because of providing a
guarantee as reasonably determined by the Lead Borrower and the Agent; provided that (x) any Domestic Subsidiary of the Parent
that is a
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guarantor under the Term Facility or (y) any other Subsidiary of the Parent that guarantees the obligations under the Term Facility
shall become a Guarantor hereunder.

“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Loan Party, any Swap Obligation if, and to the extent that, all or a
portion of the liability of such Loan Party of, or the grant by such Loan Party of a security interest to secure, such Swap Obligation
(or any liability or Guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal under the Commodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of
the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of such Loan
Party’s failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible contract participant” as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act and the
regulations thereunder at the time the liability for or the Guarantee of such Loan Party or the grant of such security interest
becomes effective with respect to such Swap Obligation (such determination being made after giving effect to any keepwell,
support or other agreement for the benefit of the applicable Loan Party, including under Section 10.24). If a Swap Obligation arises
under a master agreement governing more than one swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the portion of such Swap Obligation
that is attributable to swaps for which such Guarantee or security interest is or becomes illegal for the reasons identified in the
immediately preceding sentence of this definition.

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Agent, any Lender, the L/C Issuer or any other recipient of any payment to be
made by or on account of any Obligation of the Loan Parties hereunder, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by its overall net
income (however denominated), franchise Taxes imposed on it (in lieu of net income Taxes), and branch profits Taxes, in each
case, (i) imposed by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in
which its principal office is located or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable Lending Office is located, or (ii) that are
Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Lead Borrower
under Section 10.13), any withholding Tax that is imposed on amounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign
Lender becomes a party hereto (or designates a new Lending Office) or is attributable to such Foreign Lender’s failure or inability
(other than as a result of a Change in Law) to comply with Section 3.01(g), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its
assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new Lending Office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts
from the Loan Parties with respect to such withholding Tax pursuant to Section 3.01(a), (c) any U.S. federal, state or local backup
withholding Tax, and (d) any U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed under FATCA.

“Existing Credit Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 28, 2011 among
the Parent, the Lead Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Lead Borrower, the lenders party thereto, PNC Bank, National
Association, as global administrative agent, and the other agents party thereto, as amended and in effect.

“Existing Letters of Credit” means each “Revolving Facility Letter of Credit” (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement)
issued under the Existing Credit Agreement and outstanding as of the Closing Date, as more fully described on Schedule 2.03
hereto.

“Existing Term Loan Agreement” means that certain Term Loan Agreement dated as of February 24, 2012 by and among
the Parent, the Lead Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Lead
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Borrower, the lenders party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, as amended and in effect.

“Facility Guaranty” means the Guaranty made by the Guarantors in favor of the Agent and the other Credit Parties, in form
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, as the same now exists or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, renewed,
restated or replaced.

“FAS 13/98 Transactions” means any real estate transaction that (a) falls within the scope of EITF No. 97-10 “The Effect of
Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction”, (b) qualifies for sale-leaseback treatment under FAS No. 13 or No. 98, or (c) is
accounted for under FAS No. 66 or ASC 840-40-55, but with respect to which neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has
acquired and sold the asset that is the subject of such transaction.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor
version that is substantively comparable) and any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal
funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day is not a Business
Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so
published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the
Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate (rounded upward, if necessary, to a whole multiple of 1/100 of 1%)
charged to Wells Fargo on such day on such transactions as determined by the Agent.

“Fee LetterLetters” means (a) the Administrative Agent Fee Letter dated as of July 11, 2014, among the Lead Borrower,
HeldingsParent and Wells Fargo and (b)_the Second Amendment Fee Letter.

“FIRREA” means the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989, as amended from time to
time.

“Fiscal Month” means any fiscal month of any Fiscal Year, which month shall generally end on the Saturday of the 4-4-5-4
week period in accordance with the fiscal accounting calendar of the Loan Parties.

“Fiscal Quarter” means any fiscal quarter of any Fiscal Year, which quarters shall generally end on the Saturday closest to
the end of each April, July, October and January of such Fiscal Year in accordance with the fiscal accounting calendar of the Loan
Parties.

“Fiscal Year” means any period of twelve (12) consecutive Fiscal Months ending on the Saturday closest to the end of
January 31 of any calendar year.
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“Foreign Bank Guarantee” means any bank guarantee collateralized by cash and securities and directly relating to foreign
lease obligations.

“Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is not a U.S. Person.

“Foreign Sub-Facility” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).

“Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.
“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements
of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements
of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the
accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently
applied.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision
thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government
(including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“Guarantee” means, as to any Person, (a) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having the
economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation payable or performable by another Person (the “primary
obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of such Person, direct or indirect, (i) to
purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation, (ii) to purchase
or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the obligee in respect of such Indebtedness or other obligation of
the payment or performance of such Indebtedness or other obligation, (iii) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other
financial statement condition or liquidity or level of income or cash flow of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor
to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation, or (iv) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee in
respect of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment or performance thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in
respect thereof (in whole or in part), or (b) any Lien on any assets of such Person securing any Indebtedness or other obligation of
any other Person, whether or not such Indebtedness or other obligation is assumed by such Person (or any right, contingent or
otherwise, of any holder of such Indebtedness to obtain any such Lien). The amount of any Guarantee shall be deemed to be an
amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the related primary obligation, or portion thereof, in respect of which such
Guarantee is made or, if not stated or determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined
by the guaranteeing Person in good faith. The term “Guarantee” as a verb has a corresponding meaning.
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“Guarantor” means (a) the Parent, (b) each Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrowers and any Excluded
Subsidiary) existing on the Closing Date, and (c) each other Subsidiary of the Parent (other than the Borrowers and any Excluded
Subsidiary) that shall be required to execute and deliver a Facility Guaranty pursuant to Section 6.12.

“Hazardous Materials” means all explosive or radioactive substances or wastes and all hazardous or toxic substances,
wastes or other pollutants, including petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated
biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances or wastes of any nature regulated pursuant to any
Environmental Law.

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards set by the International Accounting Standards Board (or the
Financial Accounting Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants or the SEC, as the case may be) or
any successor thereto, as in effect from time to time.

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means (x) as of the GlesingSecond Amendment Effective Date, the Subsidiaries set forth on
Schedule 1.03 hereto, and (y) with respect to any Subsidiary formed or acquired after the SlesingSecond Amendment Effective
Date, any such Subsidiary of the Lead Borrower that (i) had less than 5% of consolidated assets and 5% of annual consolidated
revenues of the Parent, the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries as reflected on the most recent financial statements
delivered pursuant to Section 6.01 prior to such date and (ii) has been designated as such by the Parent in a written notice delivered
to the Agent (other than any such Subsidiary as to which the Parent has revoked such designation by written notice to the Agent);
provided that no Subsidiary with property included in the Borrowing Base or related to property included in the Borrowing Base
may be designated as an Immaterial Subsidiary (and any such Subsidiary with any assets of the type included in the Borrowing
Base shall segregate such assets from the assets of the Loan Parties), and provided further that at no time shall all Immaterial
Subsidiaries so designated by the Parent have in the aggregate consolidated assets or annual consolidated revenues (as reflected on
the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.01 prior to such time) in excess of 5% of consolidated assets or
annual consolidated revenues, respectively, of the Parent, the Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries.

“Increase Effective Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.15(d).

“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person at a particular time, without duplication, all of the following, whether or not
included as indebtedness or liabilities in accordance with GAAP:

(a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds,
debentures, notes, loan agreements or other similar instruments;

(b) the maximum amount of all direct or contingent obligations of such Person arising under letters of credit
(including standby and commercial), bankers’ acceptances, bank guaranties, surety bonds and similar instruments;

(©) net obligations of such Person under any Swap Contract;
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(d) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade
accounts payable in the ordinary course of business and, in each case, not past due for more than 90 days after the date on
which such trade account payable was created);

(e) indebtedness (excluding prepaid interest thereon) secured by a Lien on property owned or being purchased
by such Person (including indebtedness arising under conditional sales or other title retention agreements), whether or not
such indebtedness shall have been assumed by such Person or is limited in recourse;

i) All Indebtedness of such Person (i) in respect of any Capital Lease Obligations of any Person, the
capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance
with GAAP, and (b) in respect of any Synthetic Lease Obligations, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease or
similar payments under the relevant lease or other applicable agreement or instrument that would appear on a balance
sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease, agreement or instrument were
accounted for as a capital lease but excluding any obligations of such Person in respect of operating leases;

(8 all mandatory obligations of such Person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any
payment in cash in respect of any Equity Interest in such Person or any other Person (including, without limitation,
Disqualified Stock, or any warrant, right or option to acquire such Equity Interest, valued, in the case of a redeemable
preferred interest, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid dividends;
and

(h) all Guarantees of such Person in respect of any of the foregoing.

For all purposes hereof, the Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any partnership or joint venture
(other than a joint venture that is itself a corporation or limited liability company) in which such Person is a general partner or a
joint venturer, unless such Indebtedness is expressly made non-recourse to such Person. The amount of any net obligation under
any Swap Contract on any date shall be deemed to be the Swap Termination Value thereof as of such date.

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or
on account of any Obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in clause
(a), Other Taxes.

“Indemnitees” has the meaning specified in Section 10.04(b).

“Information” has the meaning specified in Section 10.07.

“Intellectual Property” means all present and future: trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information; trademarks,
trademark applications, internet domain names, service marks, trade dress, trade names, business names, designs, logos, slogans
(and all translations, adaptations, derivations and combinations of the foregoing) indicia and other source and/or
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business identifiers, and all registrations or applications for registrations which have heretofore been or may hereafter be issued
thereon throughout the world; copyrights and copyright applications; (including copyrights for computer programs) and all tangible
and intangible property embodying the copyrights, unpatented inventions (whether or not patentable); patents and patent
applications; industrial design applications and registered industrial designs; license agreements related to any of the foregoing and
income therefrom; books, customer lists, records, writings, computer tapes or disks, flow diagrams, specification sheets, computer
software, source codes, object codes, executable code, data, databases and other physical manifestations, embodiments or
incorporations of any of the foregoing; all other intellectual property; and all common law and other rights throughout the world in
and to all of the foregoing.

“Intercreditor Agreement” means (i) the Intercreditor Agreement dated as of the Closing Date by and among the Agent and
the Term Agent, as it may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance
with the terms hereof and thereof or (ii) any other intercreditor agreement among the Agent and any agent or trustee with respect to
the Term Facility or any Permitted Refinancing thereof, as it may be amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof.

“Intercreditor Provisions” has the meaning specified in Section 8.01(m).

“Interest Payment Date” means, (a) as to any EFFBOLIBOR Rate Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to such
Loan and the Maturity Date; provided, however, that if any Interest Period for a FHBGLIBOR Rate Loan exceeds three months, the
respective dates that fall every three months after the beginning of such Interest Period shall also be Interest Payment Dates; and (b)
as to any Base Rate Loan (including a Swing Line Loan), the first day after the end of each month and the Maturity Date.

“Interest Period” means, as to each HHBOLIBOR Rate Loan, the period commencing on the date such HHBOLIBOR Rate
Loan is disbursed or converted to or continued as a HFHBOLIBOR Rate Loan and ending on the date one, two, three or six months
thereafter, as selected by the Lead Borrower in its Gemmitted LIBOR Rate Loan Notice; provided that:

@) any Interest Period that would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day shall be extended to the
next succeeding Business Day unless such Business Day falls in another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period
shall end on the next preceding Business Day;

(ii) any Interest Period that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there

is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business
Day of the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period;

(iii) no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Maturity Date; and

(iv) notwithstanding the provisions of clause (iii) above, no Interest Period shall have a duration of less than
one (1) month, and if any Interest Period applicable to a
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HBOLIBOR Borrowing would be for a shorter period, such Interest Period shall not be available hereunder.

For purposes hereof, the date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the
effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

“In-Transit Inventory” means Inventory of a Loan Party which is in the possession of a common carrier and is in transit
from a foreign vendor of a Loan Party from a location outside of the continental United States to a location of a Loan Party that is
within the continental United States.

“Inventory” has the meaning given that term in the UCC, and shall also include, without limitation, all: (a) goods which (i)
are leased by a Person as lessor, (ii) are held by a Person for sale or lease or to be furnished under a contract of service, (iii) are
furnished by a Person under a contract of service, or (iv) consist of raw materials, work in process, or materials used or consumed
in a business; (b) goods of said description in transit; (c) goods of said description which are returned, repossessed or rejected; and
(d) packaging, advertising, and shipping materials related to any of the foregoing.

“Inventory Advance Rate” means (i)_during_the period from January 1 through March 31 of each year, 92.5% (solely with
respect to Eligible Inventory located in the United States (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Eligible In-Transit Inventory)),
and (ii)_at all other times, 90%.

“Inventory Reserves” means, without duplication of any other Reserve, such reserves as may be established from time to
time by the Agent in its Permitted Discretion with respect to the determination of the salability, at retail, of the Eligible Inventory,
which reflect such other factors as affect the market value of the Eligible Inventory or which reflect claims and liabilities that the
Agent determines will need to be satisfied in connection with the realization upon the Inventory. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, Inventory Reserves may, in the Agent’s Permitted Discretion, include (but are not limited to) reserves based on:

(a) Obsolescence;

(b) Seasonality;

(© Shrink;

(d) Imbalance;

(e) Change in Inventory character;
® Change in Inventory composition;
(8) Change in Inventory mix;

(h) Markdowns (both permanent and point of sale);
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(i) Retail markons and markups inconsistent with prior period practice and performance, industry standards,
current business plans or advertising calendar and planned advertising events; and

)] Out-of-date and/or expired Inventory.

“Investment” means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect acquisition or investment by such Person, whether by means of
(a) the purchase or other acquisition of Equity Interests of another Person, (b) a loan, advance or capital contribution to, Guarantee
or assumption of debt or other obligation of, or purchase or other acquisition of any other debt or interest in, another Person, or (c)
any Acquisition, or (d) the purchase, acquisition or any other investment of money or in any stocks, bonds, mutual funds, notes,
debentures or other securities, or any deposit account, certificate of deposit or other investment of any kind. For purposes of
covenant compliance, the amount of any Investment shall be the amount actually invested, without adjustment for subsequent
increases or decreases in the value of such Investment. For purposes hereof, the amount of any Investment at any time shall be the
amount actually invested (measured at the time made), without adjustment for subsequent changes in the value of such Investment.

“Investment Policy” means the investment policies for global cash management and the rabbi trust of the Parent as
approved by the Parent’s board of directors and in effect from time to time.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“ISP” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the International Standby Practices 1998 (International Chamber of

Commerce Publication No. 590) and any subsegtentversion or revision thereof adepted-by-thetnternational-Chamber-of-Commeree
on-the-datesueh-Letter of- Creditisissaedaccepted by the L/C Issuer for use.

“Issuer Documents” means with respect to any Letter of Credit, the Letter Credit Application, the Standby Letter of Credit
Agreement or Commercial Letter of Credit Agreement, as applicable, and any other document, agreement and instrument entered
into by the L/C Issuer and tkeany Borrower (or any Subsidiary) or in favor of the L/C Issuer and relating to any such Letter of
Credit.

“Joinder” means an agreement, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Agent pursuant to which, among other things, a
Person becomes a party to, and bound by the terms of, this Agreement and/or the other Loan Documents in the same capacity and
to the same extent as either a Borrower or a Guarantor, as the Agent may determine.

“Landlord Lien State” means such state(s) in which a landlord’s claim for rent has priority over the Lien of the Agent in any
of the Collateral.

“Laws” means each international, foreign, Federal, state and local statute, treaty, rule, guideline, regulation, ordinance, code
and administrative or judicial precedent or authority, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental
Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and each applicable administrative
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order, directed duty, request, license, authorization and permit of, and agreement with, any Governmental Authority, in each case
whether or not having the force of law.

“L/C Credit Extension” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the issuance thereof or extension of the expiry date
thereof, or the increase of the amount thereof, or the renewal thereof.

“L/C Issuer” means, collectively, (a) Wells Fargo, PNC Bank, National Association and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
their respective Affiliates in their capacities as issuers of Letters of Credit hereunder, or any successor issuer of Letters of Credit
hereunder, (b) with respect to the Existing Letters of Credit and until such Existing Letters of Credit expire or are returned
undrawn, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and (c) any other Lender who agrees to act as L/C Issuer and is acceptable to the Lead
Borrower and approved by the Agent in its reasonable discretion. The L/C Issuer may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more
Letters of Credit to be issued by Affiliates of the L/C Issuer and/or for such Affiliate to act as an advising, transferring, confirming
and/or nominated bank in connection with the issuance or administration of any such Letter of Credit, in which case the term “L/C
Issuer” shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Affiliate.

“L/C Obligations” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate undrawn amount avaitable-te-be-drawnunderof all
outstanding Letters of Credit. For purposes of computing the amounts available to be drawn under any Letter of Credit, the amount
of such Letter of Credit shall be determined in accordance with Section 1.06. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on any date of
determination, a Letter of Credit has expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn thereunder by reason of the operation
of any Rule under the ISP or any article of the UCP, such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be “outstanding” in the amount so
remaining available to be drawn.

“Lead Borrower” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble of this Agreement.

“Lease” means any agreement, whether written or oral, no matter how styled or structured, pursuant to which a Loan Party
is entitled to the use or occupancy of any space in a structure, land, improvements or premises for any period of time.

“Lender” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto and, as the context requires, includes the Swing
Line Lender.

“Lender Counterparty” means the Agent, each Lender, and each of their respective Affiliates counterparty to an agreement
governing Bank Products or Cash Management Services (including any Person who is a Lender (and any Affiliate thereof) as of the
Closing Date but subsequently, whether before or after entering into such agreement governing Bank Products or Cash
Management Services, ceases to be a Lender).

“Lending_Office” means, as to any Lender, the office or offices of such Lender described as such in such Lender’s
Administrative Questionnaire, or such other office or offices as a Lender may from time to time notify the Borrower and the Agent.
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“Letter of Credit” means each Standby Letter of Credit and each Commercial Letter of Credit issued hereunder and shall
include the Existing Letters of Credit.

“Letter of Credit Application” means an application for the issuance or amendment of a Letter of Credit in the form from
time to time in use by the L/C Issuer.

“Letter of Credit Disbursement” means a payment made by the L/C Issuer pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

“Letter of Credit Expiration Date” means the day that is seven days prior to the Maturity Date then in effect (or, if such day
is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day).

“Letter of Credit Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(]).

“Letter of Credit Indemnified Costs” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(f).
“Letter of Credit Related Person” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(f).

“Letter of Credit Sublimit” means an amount equal to $+66;696;686: 50,000,000. As of the Second Amendment Effective

allocation such that the Letter of Credit Sublimit remains unchanged)_and (y)_the Letter of Credit Sublimit may be increased from
time to time upon agreement between the Administrative Agent and the L.ead Borrower, so long_as any such increase has been

Agent. The Letter of Credit Sublimit is part of, and not in addition to, the Aggregate Commitments. A permanent reduction of the
Aggregate Commitments shall not require a corresponding pro rata reduction in the Letter of Credit Sublimit; provided, however,
that if the Aggregate Commitments are reduced to an amount less than the Letter of Credit Sublimit, then the Letter of Credit
Sublimit shall be reduced to an amount equal to (or, at LLead Borrower’s option, less than) the Aggregate Commitments.

“EHBOLIBOR Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of EFBSLIBOR Rate Loans.

“EHBOLIBOR Rate” means for any Interest Period with respect to a FHBOLIBOR Rate Loan, the rate per annum rate-whieh
appears-on-the Reuters-SereenrHHBORO-pageas published by ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (or any successor page or

other commercially available source as the Agent may designate from time to time) as of 11:00 a.m., London time, en-theseeend
Londentwo Business Day—preeedingDays prior to the first-daycommencement of saehInterestPeriod{erifsuehrate—doesnet
a AR hao R A A Doago hao o da 3

terjthe requested Interest Period, for a term, and in an amount, comparable to the Interest Period and the amount of
the HHBOGLIBOR Rate Loan requested (whether as an initial EHBOLIBOR Rate Loan or as a
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continuation of a FFBOLIBOR Rate Loan or as 